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CHAPTER XII
THE MARRIAGE OF FERDINAND AND ISABELLA

“EvER since the wars began in Castile between King
Henry and the nobles of his realm, and before the marriage
of King Ferdinand and Queen Isabella, a song used to be
sung there by the newcomers within the kingdom; and the
words of this song, which was set to very pleasant music, were

¢ Flowers of Aragon

Blossom in Castile.’ !
And the children took little bannerets, and, riding on canes
and prancing about, cried, ‘Standard of Aragon, standard
of Aragon!’ AndIrepeated it and repeat it now five times
over; for we can now say after our experience of what fol-
lowed after: ‘Lord, out of the mouths of babes and suck-
. lings hast thou perfected praise because of thine adversaries,
that thou mightest still the enemy and the avenger.’?!
And to this text we may now reverently attribute a fresh
significance over and above the gloss which Holy Mother
Church appends to it. And this is to the effect that our
Lord observed that His people of Castile were suffering from
all manner of pride and heresy, blasphemy, avarice and
rapine, wars, tumults and quarrels, thieves and robbers,
whoremongers, assassins, gamblers and keepers of gaming
tables; from whence it followed that the names of our
Lord God and of our Lady, the glorious Virgin Mary, were
frequently taken in vain and denied by these evil gamblers,

! This is an accurate translation of which is a curious jumble of Psalms
the original Latin of the quotation, viil, 2, and Matthew xxi, 16.

3



4 THE MARRIAGE OF FERDINAND AND ISABELLA

and that the Moors were enabled to murder, plunder, and
gain ransoms from Christian folk; and further as a remedy
for these evils that our Lord of His infinite mercy and good-
ness placed it in the mouths of innocent children to proclaim,
in the guise of warriors with their standards, and joyously to
sing the praises of those who had recently come within the
realm, before He put an end to the woes with which the
kingdom was afflicted. So that from the flowers and the
standard which entered Castile from Aragon for the cele-
bration of the holy marriage of Ferdinand and Isabella, by
which the two sceptres of these kingdoms were finally united,
there have proceeded so many and such marvellous benefits
in the thirty years of their joint reign, that we, who have
been witnesses of what our Lord has accomplished in our
day and generation, may well take to ourselves the words of
our Lord and Redeemer, ‘Blessed are the eyes which see
the things that ye see.’” And thus with the union of the
royal crowns, our Lord Jesus Christ visited His wrath upon
His foes, and destroyed the murderer and the avenger.”

Such are the words in which Andrés Bernéldez, the noted
chronicler of the time of Ferdinand and Isabella, describes
what he believed to have been an augury of the reign of the
Catholic Kings.!

It certainly seemed that all the miseries which had afflicted
the kingdom of Castile in the later Middle Ages had reached
their culmination during the first three-quarters of the fif-
teenth century, in the reigns of John IT and Henry IV.? The
former had not completed his second year when he ascended
the throne; and the regency for him, which was initiated
under the wise guidance of his uncle, Ferdinand of Ante-

1 Bernfldes, Historia de los Reyes 295, note 1, 297, note 1.

Catélicos, cap. vii; of. also J. Calmette, 2 D. Clemencin, in Memorias de la
Louss XI et la révolution catalane, pp. R. A. H., vi, pp. 116-134.,




ALVARO DE LUNA 5

quera, was virtually continued, though under far less skilful
and devoted hands, until the day of his death. For the
king had no aptitude whatsoever for business, nor ability
to rule; he was absorbed in the patronage and pursuit of
letters, music, and art;' when his uncle, the ‘good regent,’
was called away to the throne of Aragon in 1412, the only
question was who should replace him. For a time a council
of ministers attempted to continue his work, but its members
were for the most part tools in the hands of powerful mag-
nates, or pensionaries of the king’s relatives in Aragon and
Navarre. Before long, however, a more masterful person-
ality arose, whose proficiency in jousting, dancing, and song
insured his favor with his sovereign, while his boundless
cupidity and ambition made him aspire to supremacy in
the state.? From 1420 till 1453, Alvaro de Luna was the
undisputed lord of Castile. His audacity impressed; his
magnificence dazzled. He was given the office of Constable,
and his credit with the puppet monarch mounted so high
that all the other counsellors of the realm were soon elbowed
aside or overshadowed. The mere fact that the favorite,
as well as his master, was the subject of a contemporary
chronicle 2 — an honor hitherto almost exclusively reserved
for kings —is a significant indication of his pre#minence.
Nor was it enough that John should hand over the conduct
of the government to his all-powerful minister; in the most
private actions of his daily life Alvaro’s word was law for
him; the Constable was even permitted to exercise some
measure of superintendence over his marital relations.*
Needless to say, such prestige as Castile had won during the

1p. 1. B., xix, pp. 436-454; Puy- 3 Crénica de Alvaro de Luna, ed.
maigre, Cour littéraire de Juan II. Miguel de Flores (Madrid, 1784).

3 M. J. Quintana, Vidas de los Es- 4 Fernéin Peres de Gusman, Genera-
pafioles Celebres (Madrid, 1879, 2 vols.), ctones y Semblansas, in B. A. E., Ixviii,
ii, pp. 1-194; J. Riszo y Ramires, Juicio p. 713, ool. 2.
erftico de Alvaro de Luna (Madrid, 1865).
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comparatively vigorous rule of Henry III was soon thrown
away under a régime like this; the waste and corruption
at home were only equalled by the weakness and vacillation
abroad. The plots to overthrow the favorite were innu-
merable and kept the realm in an uproar, but one by one they
failed; and the state of public confidence and morality is
shown by the fact that when the rebels desired to parley
with the king and his minister, it was often necessary to find
some neutral person of known integrity to preside over the
conference, and to furnish him with a large military force
as a safeguard against foul play by any of the parties con-
cerned.!

In 1418, just at the time that Alvaro was rising into prom-
inence, the king had been married to his cousin Maria,
daughter of his uncle and former regent, Ferdinand of Ante-
quera; and three years previously his sister (also named
Maria) had wedded Alfonso the Magnanimous; the two
branches of the house of Trastamara which occupied the
thrones of Aragon and Castile were thus closely connected
by a double tie. In 1425 a son, Henry, was born to the king
of Castile and his Aragonese wife; but no other children
followed, and in 1445 the queen died. It is not necessary
to believe the assertions of his enemies that Alvaro was
responsible for her demise, but he evidently felt that it was
quite within his province to select her successor. Without
consulting the king, who apparently desired to wed a French
princess, he calmly arranged a marriage for him with Isabella,
a cousin of Affonso the African, king of Portugal, and forced
his master to conclude it in August, 1447. The motives
that inspired the Constable to seek this alliance were prob-
~ ably almost entirely personal; but the match shows that,

1 P. Ferndndes de Velasco, Seguro ume with Flores’s edition of the Crénica
de Tordesillas, printed in the same vol- de Alvaro de Luna (Madrid, 1784).
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despite all the struggles and wars of the previous century,
Castile still saw the advantages of keeping close to her
neighbor on the west. The Portuguese marriage, however,
proved the ruin of its originator. Alvaro’s arrogance had
at last reached a pitch which even John found it impossible
to endure. The new queen could not stomach his influence
with her husband, which so completely eclipsed her own,
and began plotting for his downfall. Finally, after the
Constable had refused to listen to a plain hint to retire, he
was arrested at his palace at Burgos, and executed two
months later in the public square at Valladolid (June 2,
1453). On July 21, 1454, King John followed his favorite
to the grave. In addition to his successor Henry, the son
of Maria of Aragon, he left two children by his Portuguese
wife: Isabella, born April 22, 1451, at Madrigal, who was
destined to be the first queen of a united Spain, and Alfonso,
born November 15, 1453.}

Great expectations were entertained of the new king, who,
as Prince of Asturias, had shown commendable energy
and vigor; if he had occasionally risen in revolt against his
father, he had also valiantly defended the honor of Castile
in the battle of Olmedo, in May, 1445, against a hostile com-
bination of factious nobles supported from Aragon and
Navarre. He was accessible to his subjects and extremely
liberal in giving. A proclamation of war against the Moors
of Granada, issued soon after his succession, induced the
belief that the infidel was speedily to be driven from the
peninsula. But the Granadan war was so slackly con-
ducted that the soldiers mutinied for lack of leadership, and
the Emir openly expressed his contempt for his Christian
foes ; while in internal affairs the young monarch developed

1 Prescott, i, pp. 113-118; and refer- L. de Corral, Don Alvaro de Luna,
ences to the chronicles there given; pp.29 fl.
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an apathy so shameless that he not seldom affixed his signa-
ture to public documents without taking the trouble to read
them through. The coinage was debased in shocking pro-
portions in order to furnish material for the royal munifi-
cence. Crime and rebellion stalked unpunished throughout
the length and breadth of the land, and the moral degrada-
tion of all ranks of society exceeded even the measure
common to that licentious age.!

The personal aspect and private life of the new monarch
were calculated, moreover, to enhance the dissatisfaction
created by his career. ‘All his Face was disagreeable . .
his Manners and course of Life were wholly addicted to De-
bauchery and Lewdness.””?* 1In 1440, at the age of fifteen, he
had been wedded to his cousin, Blanche of Navarre, daughter
by a first wife of the future John II of Aragon; but he had
been divorced from her thirteen years later on the ground
that he had been unable to consummate the marriage. Ex-
amination of the unedifying details of the case leads, how-
ever, to grave doubts as to the truth of the pretext alleged ;
and the fact that negotiations for a second marriage of the
Infante with a Portuguese princess were initiated before the
first was dissolved is further evidence in the same direction.?
It seems highly probable, in fact, that political reasons were
at the back of the whole affair. Castile, as has been already
pointed out, had quite as many grounds for wishing to unite
with Portugal as with Aragon. The constant interference
of the Aragonese Infantes in the internal affairs of the realm,
where as descendants of the house of Trastamara they pos-
sessed extensive estates, had been a fertile source of trouble
for many years. Moreover, the second queen of John II,
whose influence with her husband had been unbounded, was

1 Prescott, i, pp. 149-162; A. Rod- [Ezxcelente Sefiora, pp. 41-61, 109-127.
rigues Villa, Don Beltran de la Cueva, 2 Mariana, tr. Stevens, p. 381.
Pp. 4-7; J. B. Sitges, Enrigue IV y la 3 Bitges, pp. 57-61, 112 {.
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a cousin of the lady who was under consideration as a bride
for her stepson, and doubtless exerted all her efforts to per-
petuate Portuguese influence in Castile. In any case the ar-
rangements for the Portuguese match were pushed rapidly
forward during the last months of the reign of John II, and
the wedding was finally celebrated, on May 20, 1455, at
Cordova, ten months after Henry had ascended his father’s
throne.!

The mass of the nation, however, whose disgust at the
fickleness of the new king as a ruler led them the more easily
to give credence to uncomplimentary stories concerning his
private life, were convinced that the assigned cause of his
divorce was the true one; and the fact that the new
queen bore no children during the first six years of her
married life still further strengthened their belief. The
cognomen of El Liberal, which had been previously assigned
to the king because of his extreme generosity, was now ex-
changed for the far less flattering one of El Impotente. But
Joanna of Portugal was sprightly and gay; she had many
devoted admirers, prominent among whom was a certain
Beltran de la Cueva, a brilliant and handsome young no-
bleman who had gained complete ascendancy over the mind
of the king, and, like Alvaro de Luna, had risen with ex-
traordinary rapidity to the foremost position in the Royal
Council. At a feast held in honor of the ambassador of the
duke of Brittany, Beltran had held the lists against all
comers in defence of the supremacy of the charms of his lady
love, whose name he refused to reveal, but whom common
report identified as the queen; and when, in February,
1462, Joanna was delivered of a daughter, we are told by the
contemporary chronicler Palencia that men generally re-
fused to recognize her as the child of the king, but assigned

1 Bitges, pp. 59-65.
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her paternity to the favorite. Whether the popular belief
in regard to this matter was correct or not has been the
subject of much unprofitable discussion, which from the na-
ture of the case cannot possibly lead to any definite result ;
yet it is pertinent to observe that it was plainly to the in-
terest of Ferdinand and Isabella, whose rival for the throne
of Castile the unfortunate Infanta was subsequently to be-
come, that the tradition of her illegitimacy should be per-
petuated, and that the courtly chronicles which were
produced in their reign are consequently unsafe guides.
Far more important, however, than the actual facts in
regard to the paternity of the Infanta, who is usually known
a8 La Beltraneja, was the effect which the doubts about it
exercised on the state of the realm. This was to deliver
over Castile to an orgy of rebellion and lawlessness, which
surpassed even the anarchy of the preceding age.!

Three months after the birth of the princess, in May,
1462, the king summoned the Castilian Cortes to Madrid,
and received their oath of recognition to her as lawful
heiress of the realm. Unfortunately we possess no docu-
ment to tell us what persons signed this oath. It is certain
that the king made every effort to secure the names of all
the magnates of his realm, but there is strong reason to be-
lieve that a number of malcontents were already preparing
to take advantage of the doubts which had been cast on the
Infanta’s origin, as a pretext for a revolt against the crown.?
Chief among these were Juan Pacheco, Marquis of Villena,
and his uncle, Alfonso Carrillo, archbishop of Toledo. The
former,® who was of Portuguese extraction, and had been

1 Palencia, Crénica, i, pp. 353 fI.; 3 Not to be confused with Enrique
Sitges, pp. 120 fI.; A. Rodrigues Villa, de Villena, the scholar and writer at
chaps. i and ii, especially pp. 11-13. the court of John IT, who was of royal

1 Sitges, pp. 129 f.; Memorias de descent, nor with the Infante Heary
Enrique IV, ed. R. A. H,, ii, coleccién of Aragon, Marquis of Villena, who
diplom4&tica, no. Ixxiv. died in 1445.
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introduced into the Castilian royal household through the
good offices of Alvaro de Luna, was a restless, intriguing
spirit, who delighted to fish in troubled waters. Honor and
loyalty were strangers to him. His own advancement was
his sole aim, and he cared not what means he employed to
attain his ends. The archbishop, who could claim few
clerical attributes save his title, was another characteristic
product of the age — ferocious in his hatreds, formidable on
the battlefield, and exceedingly valuable to any cause
which he should elect to espouse, on account of the vast
resources which he commanded as primate of Castile.!
Both these men, who had expected to rule in the counsels
of the young king, had fiercely resented the sudden rise of
Beltran de la Cueva and the consequent eclipse of their
own fortunes. They had been deeply dissatisfied with the
way in which the new favorite had carried on the govern-
ment; now, with the birth of La Beltraneja and the ques-
tions that had been raised concerning it, they saw their
opportunity for revenge.

How much they could have accomplished by their own
resources is exceedingly doubtful; but it so happened that
powerful outside support was close at hand. The restless
King John of Aragon, who had never ceased to covet the
throne of Castile for his own family, had dreamed ever
since 1457 of a marriage of his son Ferdinand, the offspring
of his second wife, to Isabella, the half-sister of King Henry,
as a means to secure that end.! The recognition of La
Beltraneja as the lawful heiress of the Castilian throne
would spell ruin for his plans; and the prospect of it threw
the Aragonese king into the arms of the Pachecos. The
growing cordiality of the courts of Castile and Portugal,
which had been a marked feature of recent years, was also

! Pulgar, Los claros varones de Espafia, tits. vi, xx. 1 Sitges, p. 131.
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most unwelcome to John, with his aspirations for an ultimate
union of Castile and Aragon; and his apprehensions were
redoubled when he learned in 1464 that negotiations were
on foot for a marriage of the Princess Isabella to Affonso
the African — a union which would naturally cut the ground
from beneath his feet in another way.! Finally, Henry the
Impotent had contrived to give offence to the king of Aragon
by sending aid to the latter’s rebel subjects in Catalonia in
the winter of 1462-63; while a year later he had filled the
cup of the wrath of the Pachecos by raising the detested
Beltran de la Cueva to the coveted dignity of grand master of
Santiago.? All these things combined to unite the Castilian
rebels and the king of Aragon. They had numerous objects
in common, and the advantages of codperation were obvious.

On May 16, 1464, Carrillo and Pacheco, together with the
latter’s brother, the grand master of Calatrava, solemnly
bound themselves together to provide for the security of
the Infanta Isabella and of her brother Alfonso, whom they
represented as in danger from some frightful conspiracy.
A little later (the exact date is not possible to ascertain) the
king of Aragon joined with them and with other lords and
prelates of the realm to propound to King Henry certain
measures which would redound to his good service and to
the weal of his kingdom.? A public pronouncement of their
intentions, which the confederates issued at Burgos in the
following September, reveals what these measures were:
the recognition of Alfonso in place of La Beltraneja as lawful
heir to the throne, and the appointment of a committee of
five to consider the state of the realm.* At a conference

1 Diego Enrfques del Castillo, Cré- signed this office.
nica del Rey Enrique ol Cuarto (in B. A. 3 Memorias de Enrigue IV, ii, nos.
B., Ixx), caps. lv and lvii. xcii, xcv; Sitges, pp. 133-136.

8 Sitges, pp. 72-108; A. Rodrigues 4 Memorias de Enrique IV, ii, no.
Villa, pp. 24 f. Beltran soon after re- xcvii.




THE DEPOSITION AT AVILA 13

with King Henry, moreover, the rebels secured the person
of the prince, and they furthermore extorted from the king
a promise to acknowledge him as his heir, on condition that
he should marry La Beltraneja. Subsequent events, how-
ever, persuaded them that Henry had no intention of abid-
ing by any concessions which he might temporarily be in-
duced to make, especially as they had entirely failed to
persuade him permanently to dismiss Beltran de la Cueva.!
The revolt had, in fact, gone too far to be settled by nego-
tiation, and as the king showed no disposition to fight, the
conspirators soon became convinced that their only hope
of effecting their ends was by violently and publicly hu-
miliating him. At Avila accordingly they “resolved upon a
most Barbarous Action, to the Eternal Infamy of Spain;
Without the Walls of that City they Erected a Scaffold, and -
placed on it the Statue of King Henry in his Royal Robes
on a Throne with his Scepter and Crown. Thither the
Villanous Nobles,and a Multitude of People, resorted. Then
a Cryer proclaimed Sentence against the King, laying to his
Charge many horrid Crimes. Whilst the Sentence was read-
ing, they leasurely stripped the Statue of all its Robes, and
at last, with Reproachful Language, threw it down from the .
Scaffold. This Villany was acted upon Wednesday the 5th
of June. Immediately Prince Alonso, who had been all the
while present, was brought upon the Secaffold, there lifted
upon the Shoulders of the Nobles, and proclaimed King, the
Royal Standard being Displayed in his Name, as was the
Custom at the Inauguration of Kings. The Multitude
presently cryed, God Save King Alonso, which was ingaging
themselves in the Quarrel.” *

1 Enriques del Castillo, caps. lxvi, tions may be found in Valera's Me-
Ixvii; Sitges, pp. 148-154. morial de diversas Hasafias, cap. xxviii

2 This account is taken from Ste- (in B. A. E., Ixx) ; in Enrfques del Cas-
vens’s Mariansa, p. 407. Other descrip- tillo, cap. Ixxiv; and in A. de Palencia,
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The opinions of Spanish jurists and historians differ widely
as to the rights and wrongs of this dramatic act, but the ma-
jority condemn it as an unwarrantable revolt against the
constituted authority of the crown.! Terrible disruption
in the realm was certainly its immediate result. For
neither the king’s partisans nor those of the revolutionists
were strongly preponderant. A list of the grandees which
followed the rival standards indicates that the two sides
were evenly balanced; a prolonged struggle seemed there-
fore inevitable, to the ruin of the peace of the realm.? The
king was supported by Beltran de la Cueva, whom he
promptly raised to the new dignity of Duke de Albu-
querque; he also sought the support of the papacy, which
he urged to fulminate against the rebels the censures of the
church; he even sent the queen to Portugal to continue
the negotiations of the previous year for the marriage of
Isabella to Affonso the African, and to demand aid and sup-
port from the latter in his distress. A treaty was actually
signed between the queen and the Portuguese monarch to
that effect; but at the last moment King Henry drew back
and refused to ratify it, on the ground that Affonso had put
too high a price upon his alliance.? The fact really was that
the Castilian sovereign still fervently hoped to find a way
out of his difficulties without an appeal to arms. The rebels
had certainly given him every pretext for attacking them,
not only by the deposition at Avila, but also by the violent
and abusive proclamations which they subsequently caused
the young Alfonso to issue in justification of his assumption
of the kingship.# The forces at their disposal were no greater
than Henry’s; there had recently been some desertions
Crémica de Enrique 1V, ed. A. Pas y 3 Memorias de Enrique IV, ii, nos.
Maelia, i, pp. 455 f1. 124, 128; Sitges, pp. 156-158; Rod-

1 Bitges, p. 155. rigues Villa, pp. 164-166.
2 Valera, cap. xxx. ¢ Memorias de Enrigue IV, ii, no. exix.

~



- r—

PROSPECTS OF THE PRINCESS ISABELLA 15

from their ranks to those of the crown,! and John of Aragon
was at the moment too fully occupied in Catalonia to give
them any aid. A vigorous thrust by the royal party at
this stage would in all probability have compassed their
defeat; but King Henry preferred negotiation, and in the
spring of 1466 he entertained a proposal to detach the
Pachecos from the insurgents by the marriage of the Prin-
cess Isabella, whose union with the king of Portugal was
now regarded as impossible, to the grand master of the
order of Calatrava, the brother of the Marquis of Villena.
Despite the entreaties of the princess, who was apparently
resolved to die rather than submit to the match, the prepara-
tions for it were hurried through. Applications were made
to Rome for the grand master’s dispensation from his vows

" of celibacy; magnificent presents were purchased for the

bride; but the wedding was prevented at the last moment
by the sudden death of the bridegroom, while on his way to
Madrid for the ceremony, on May 2, 1466. The nature of
the illness that carried him off was impossible to ascertain,
and at least one authority attributes his demise to poison ;
but if poison it was, there is no reason to lay the responsi-
bility at the door of the still youthful Isabella.?

The death of the grand master, however, did not break
off the negotiations, which continued till the year 1467,
though without success. A number of betrayals and
desertions characterize this state of the proceedings,® but
before long it became obvious that a trial of strength on the
field of battle was sooner or later inevitable. It occurred
at last, on August 20, 1467, on the plain of Olmedo, close to
the spot where John II of Castile, twenty-two years before,
had triumphed over his subjects. Many deeds of reckless
valor were performed on both sides — the most dramatic

1 Sitges, p. 160. 1 Sitges, pp. 160 {.; Preacott, i, p. 169. 3 Sitges, p. 162.
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being perhaps the action of Beltran de la Cueva, who, on
learning that forty knights in the opposing ranks had sworn
to slay him if he ventured to show his face in the fight,
promptly notified his foes of the garb he intended to wear,
in order that they might not be at a loss to find him. The
king’s forces, which were the more numerous, retained
possession of the field at the end of the day; but Henry
had not the energy to follow up his victory, and less than a
month later he permitted Segovia, his favorite town, to
fall into the hands of his foes, without striking a blow in its
defence.! Again the hope of detaching the Marquis of
Villena from the confederates led to a renewal of fruitless
negotiations, with the usual series of betrayals and counter-
betrayals as their inevitable accompaniment. This time
a new element was introduced by the fact that the young
Prince Alfonso, who had hitherto surrendered himself to
the dictates of the grandees, had begun to give signs of in-
dependence and vigor, which promised to leave small room
for the continuation of baronial tutelage. “This youth,”
exclaimed one of the magnates, “although in the hands of
others and under our guardianship, is gaining far too much
arrogance for such tender years! If we are to avoid ruin,
we shall have to seek means to control him, either by dissi-
pation or some other yoke.”” ? On July 5, 1468, the prince
died, after an illness of four days’ duration. When we con-
sider the state of the realm and the prevalence of foul play,
we cannot wonder that the majority of the contemporary
historians incline to attribute his death to the characteristic
fifteenth-century cause: Pulgar alone states categorically
that he was carried off by the pestilence.? In view of the
nature of the evidence, we shall probably do well to follow

1 Palencis, ii, pp. 89-73; Sitges, pp. 2 Palencisa, ii, p. 112,
162-166. 3 Sitges, pp. 167 f.
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the example of the chronicler Castillo and not attempt
. to give too definite a verdict; but the words in which that
prudent writer comments on the event make it perfectly
plain what he believed. “It was assuredly,” he avers, “a
most marvellous fact that three days before he died, the
prince’s death was divulged throughout the whole realm.”
With Alfonso gone, everything depended on the Princess
Isabella, who had been in the camp of the insurgents ever
since the fall of Segovia in the previous year, and had rec-
ognized the late prince as the lawful occupant of the Castil-
ian throne.* If she insisted on being acknowledged as queen,
‘and could prevail upon a sufficient number of the insurgents
to support her, a continuation of civil war and anarchy
would be inevitable; on the other hand, a compromise would
infallibly be welcomed by Henry and would probably go
far to preserve the peace of the realm. At a meeting held
on August 17 to deliberate about the situation, a rift ap-
peared in the ranks of the confederates; the archbishop of
Toledo being clearly in favor of immediately recognizing
Isabella as queen, while the Marquis of Villena counselled
a reconciliation with the king. Isabella, quite as much from
policy as from unselfishness, soon decided that if possible
she would pursue the latter course. She had no intention of
renouncing what she regarded as her just title as queen of
Castile, but she plainly perceived that her reign would be
far happier, and the kingdom more united, if she could obtain
Henry’s approval. She therefore consented to hold an in-
terview with her half-brother, not indeed as the titular head
of a rebel faction suing for peace, but as lawful queen of
the realm, willing for the sake of internal quiet to permit
him during his life to retain the dignity of king, provided
her own right to succeed him was unequivocally recog-
1 Enrfques del Castillo, cap. cxiv. s Sitges, pp. 165, 171-174.
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nized.! The interview took place on September 19, 1468, at
Toros de Guisando, southwest of Avila, in the presence of
the archbishop of Toledo, the Marquis of Villena, and other
grandees. It ended in an agreement substantially in accord
with the Infanta’s contentions, Henry being allowed to live
out the remainder of his days on the throne of Castile, while
Isabella was recognized and sworn to as princess and heiress
of the realm to the prejudice of the claims of La Beltraneja.?

At this point we must leave the narrative of Castilian
events, in order to bring the affairs of the eastern kingdoms
up to date.

John IT of Aragon, the younger brother of Alfonso the
Magnanimous, and the father by his second wife of Ferdi-
nand the Catholic, was unquestionably one of the most
remarkable sovereigns of the fifteenth century. Compact
and vigorous in body, and inured to toil, he was filled to the
brim with nervous emergy and power; even the painful
cataract which afflicted him in the latter part of his life,
and, until it was removed by an operation in 1468, rendered
him at times almost totally blind, was unable to diminish
his extraordinary vitality. His physical qualities were
fully matched by those of his mind and character. Unceas-
ingly ambitious, a past master of diplomacy and intrigue,
he was held back by no moral scruple from the relentless pur-
suit of his own ends. Had he lived in Italy, half a century
later, Machiavelli might well have utilized him instead of
Caesar Borgia as a model and pattern for The Prince.?

'_Il’llenoi& ii, pp. 177-199; Sitges,
p. 175.

3 The text of the concordia is pub-
lished in the Memorias de Enrique IV,
ii, no. olii; also in Sitges, pp. 178-189,
with the comments of the contemporary
chroniclers. It is not improbable that

the clauses in the treaty which connote
a recognition by Henry that La Bel-
traneja was not his daughter were in-
serted subsequently, under Ferdinand
and Isabella.

3 Calmette, Louis XI et la révolution
catalane, p. 42; Deedevises du Desert,
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During the last years of the reign of his father, the good
King Ferdinand, John had hopes, as we have already seen,
of securing for himself the succession in Sicily; but his
elder brother, Alfonso the Magnanimous, had no wish to
see him established there, and in 1419 succeeded in diverting
his attention in another direction by arranging a marriage
for him with Blanche, widow of Martin the Younger of
Aragon, and daughter of the king of Navarre.! We have not
had occasion to deal with this little saddlebag realm
since the early days of the Reconquest, when it was alter-
nately involved in the affairs of Aragon and Castile. Suf-
fice it to say that after remaining for a long time in the hands
of a separate Spanish dynasty, which, however, was closely
related to the royal lines in the other Iberian kingdoms, it
had passed in the year 1234 to the French family of the
counts of Champagne, thence in 1284 to the French crown,
and finally, in the early part of the fourteenth century, to the
French feudal house of the counts of Evr,eux; the wife of
John of Aragon was the daughter of the third of the Evreux
kings of Navarre. During this long period of subjection
to French influence, the Navarrese had maintained their
pristine independence, and sturdily insisted on the rigorous
observance of all their ancient privileges. It is true that
some new institutions, notably a Chambre des Comptes, were
introduced by the sovereigns of the Evreux line, but the in-
habitants were more than ever averse to having their desti-

Don Carlos &’ Aragon, p. 94. The num-
ber of John's enemies who died at the
most convenient possible moment for
John has naturally given rise to accu-
sations of poison. BSeemingly no one
oould cross his path with impunity.
His son Charles, his daughter Blanche,
Pedro the Constable of Portugal, John
of Calabria, Alfonso the Infante of Cas-
tile, all died at the very moment when
their continued existence would have

seriously embarrassed the king of Ara-
gon. It is impossible, on the evidence
that has come down to us, to substan-
tiate the poison theory in any one of
these cases; on the other hand the
absenoce of evidence may simply show
that John did his work skilfully. Cf.
L. Comenge, A puntes histéricos. Clinica
egregia (Barcelona, 1895), passim.

1Cf. Vol. I, p. 411, and Desdevises
du Desert, op. cit., pp. 95-108.
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nies shaped by their more powerful neighbors; and they had
thus far succeeded in imbuing the foreign sovereigns whom
dynastic changes had brought them with their own zeal for
the preservation of their autonomy.!

The marriage treaty of John of Aragon and Blanche of Na-
varre was apparently inspired by the idea of a sort of federa-
tion of the little Pyrenean realm with the kingdoms of Spain,
and was welcomed by the Navarrese as a guarantee of their
independence against the French influences which had been
preponderant there for the past two centuries.? John of
Aragon, however, regarded the matter in a somewhat differ-
ent light. Elbowed out of Sicily, he was keenly desirous
to possess a crown of his own; since it was improbable, at
that period, that he would ever be the heir of his brother
Alfonso in Aragon, he welcomed the opportunity to satisfy
his ambitions in Navarre. But that was not all. Though
his accession in Aragon was improbable, it was, to say the
least, possible; he was, moreover, exceedingly influential
in Castile, and was constantly meddling in its affairs.® If
fortune favored him, there was certainly a chance that from
Navarre as a centre he might ultimately unite all the differ-
ent kingdoms of Spain under his own or his children’s rule,
as they had once been united four centuries before under the
sceptre of Sancho the Great. Just when an idea of the
possibility of an Iberian unity first took shape in the mind
of John of Aragon, it is impossible to say. It was clearly
the guiding motive of his declining years, and may well have
been dimly conceived of even at this early stage. But the
indispensable preliminary was that he should make good
his hold on the little mountain kingdom whose heiress had

1A good account of Navarrese in- des Comptes de Navarre (Paris, 1890)
stitutions is given in Desdevises du sD. I. A., xxvi, pp.
Desert, pp. 67-87: cf. also J. A. Bru- devises du Desert pp. 99-105.
tails, Documents desarchives dela Chambre 3 Cf. ante, pp. 11 f1.
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become his wife; and his prospects of accomplishing this
were not at first encouraging. In his marriage treaty with
Blanche of Navarre, he had been unable to prevent the
insertion of numerous provisions which seriously limited his
political authority in that realm. The Navarrese had no
intention of making him really king; they expressly stipu-
lated that he should have no sovereign rights apart from
his wife, and that, if she predeceased him, her eldest child,
whether male or female, should inherit the throne to the
prejudice of her husband. The treaty, however, failed
specifically to state at what age under these circumstances
the royal power and authority should be fully surrendered
to the heir; and, as things worked out, this omission ulti-
mately afforded John an opportunity, of which he was not
slow to avail himself, to get the government into his own
hands.!

A son, Charles, was born to John on May 29, 1421; and
two daughters, Blanche and Eleanor, followed in the suc-
ceeding years. In 1425 Charles the Noble, the old Evreux
king of Navarre, died, so that John, as husband of the late
monarch’s daughter, became titular king of the realm; but
the Navarrese were so violently opposed to granting him
any real political power that he soon desisted from any
effort to make his authority felt, and left the conduct of the
government in the hands of his wife. During the next fif-
teen years he was almost exclusively occupied in Aragon and
Castile; in the former, as lieutenant and representative
of his absent brother, Alfonso the Magnanimous; in the
latter, as an ambitious intriguer, head and centre of all the
various baronial coalitions which aimed to curb the omnipo-
tence of Alvaro de Luna.? Finally, in May, 1441, Blanche
of Navarre died, leaving the throne of the realm, in con-

1 Deadevises du Desert, pp. 102-105. 3 I'tid., pp. 107-113.
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formity with her marriage treaty, to her son Charles, Prince
of Viana, but begging him not to assume the title of king
“without the consent and blessing of his father.” ! If the
queen hoped in this way to reconcile her son and her husband,
she was grievously in error; what she had really done was to
render a conflict between them inevitable. Had she left the
delicate matter entirely alone, John would probably never
have dared to assert any claims at all; as it was, he reap-
peared in Navarre soon after the death of his wife, and de-
manded that Charles recognize him as king. After a long
struggle, in which he was far more vigorously opposed by
the Navarrese Cortes than by his gentle and modest son, he
gained his ends; though Charles drew up a secret protesta-
tion against the validity of his father’s title to the crown.
Ostensibly, however, the victory lay with John, who soon
returned to his intrigues in Castile, leaving Charles to govern
Navarre as his lieutenant and representative in his absence.?

In September, 1444, John of Aragon was betrothed to
Joanna Enriquez, the brilliant and charming daughter of the
Admiral of Castile, and great-great-granddaughter of King
Alfonso XI; their marriage was celebrated in the summer of
14472 This union was a significant evidence that, despite
his recent defeat at Olmedo in 1445, John of Aragon had by
no means renounced his ambition to make capital for him-
self out of the domestic discord in Castile. The Admiral
Enrfquez was the most powerful of the opponents of Alvaro
de Luna, and his alliance would mean everything to John
in case the latter decided to renew the contest in the western
kingdom. Meantime in Navarre the news of John’s second
marriage was received with universal apprehension and dis-
approval. According to the fueros, he was thereby deprived

1 Desdevises du Desert, pp. 126-129.
2 Itid., pp. 129-137. 3 Idid., pp. 196 f.
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of the last remnant of legal right to the Navarrese throne;?
but the inhabitants knew him too well to think for one
moment that he would acknowledge this, and their worst
fears were confirmed, in the autumn of 1449, when he re-
appeared in the realm, bringing with him a host of Castilian
and Aragonese followers, whom he promptly installed in
posts of profit and authority, to the prejudice of the Navar-
rese.? Despite the pliant nature of Charles, it was clear
that the differences between father and son could only be
settled by war. The mass of the Navarrese supported the
prince; 8o did the dominant party of Alvaro de Luna in
Castile; in law-respecting Aragon also warm sympathy was
manifested for his side.® But Navarre itself was so disrupted
that John was not entirely without adherents there; that the
powerful family of the Beaumonts had decided to throw in
their lot with Charles was sufficient reason why their tradi-
tional rivals, the Agramonts, should range themselves on the
gide of his father. In late October, 1451, the rivals met at
Aybar, south of Sanguesa. After they had almost succeeded
in reaching a satisfactory compromise by parleying, the im-
patience of their rival partisans reached the breaking point ;
battle was joined before the opposing chiefs could prevent it,
with the result that the young prince was defeated and made
prisoner. The Cortes of Aragon showed a disposition to offer
mediation between father and son,® but John would have none
of it. Later a plan was broached for placing the settlement
of the affair in the hands of Alfonso the Magnanimous, and
pending the latter’s decision the prince was permitted, under
harsh conditions, to return to Navarre, in June, 1453; but
as the terms on which he had been liberated were not fulfilled,
the hope of a peaceful solution of the difficulty vanished,

1 Deedevises du Desert, p. 198. 4 Ibid., pp. 226-228.
8 Idbad., pp. 200 f. § Itd., pp. 232-234.
3 Ivid., pp. 212, 232.
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and war blazed forth again between the rival parties.
Meantime, in the midst of all these broils and battles, John’s
new wife had borne him a son, the future Ferdinand the
Catholic, on March 10, 1452, in the little town of Sos. When
the baby was christened in the cathedral of Saragossa on
February 11, 1453, it was observed that the utmost pomp
and magnificence were displayed, “just as if he had been the
heir of all these kingdoms.” !

It will be readily understood that the birth of Ferdinand
was not calculated to diminish the animosity between John
and Charles. The chance, which had been slight in 1420,
that John might some day succeed his brother Alfonso in
Aragon, was now far greater. The disruption in Castile
promised well for the ultimate success of his intrigues in that
direction, especially in view of his marriage with Joanna
Enriquez. If he could but establish his own authority in
Navarre, and hand it on unchallenged to Ferdinand, the
latter might some day actually realize his father’s dreams
of a union of all the Spanish realms under a single sceptre.
And so the struggle between John of Aragon (who most of
the time was represented in Navarre by his indomitable wife)
and the unfortunate Prince of Viana continued from 1453
to 1456, with occasional interruptions for diplomatic pur-
poses; but the tide turned steadily against the prince, so
that he finally abandoned the unequal fight, and, travelling
by way of France and northern Italy, sought refuge at the
court of his uncle, Alfonso the Magnanimous, in Naples.?
The latter had little relish for the ways of his brother;® on
the other hand he had deep sympathy and a high regard for
his unfortunate nephew, whose literary and artistic tenden-

1 Zurita, iv, {. 10. " used to say, “Mi hermano el Rey de

2 Desdevises du Desert, pp. 234- Navarra, § yo nacimos de un vientre,

246, 251 {. ) non somos de una mente.”
3 Zurita, iv, f. 44, tells us that he
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cies must have strongly appealed to him; and he was busily
engaged in an attempt to reconcile father and son on a
basis satisfactory to the latter, when he died, on June 27,
1458.) The Neapolitans offered their crown to Charles, in
prejudice of the rights of Alfonso’s illegitimate son, Ferrante,
to whom the Magnanimous King had left it ; but the prince
had too much respect for the memory of his uncle to accept,
and soon passed over to Sicily, where he hoped to find peace
and quiet, if not active support and sympathy in his mis-
fortunes.?

The ultimate result of the death of Alfonso the Magnani-
mous was to widen the scope of the quarrel between Charles
and his father, and also to bring it to a head. John suc-
ceeded his brother in Sicily, Sardinia, and in his Spanish
realms, so that his dreams of Iberian unity were brought
measurably nearer realization than ever before; yet, on the
other hand, Charles became the legal heir-apparent in all
these kingdoms at the same time. If the new king of Aragon
desired to pass on all his dominions to his beloved Ferdinand,
the Prince of Viana must somehow be set aside. The latter’s
presence in Sicily, moreover, was profoundly disquieting to
John; for the natives, who retained the happiest memories
of the prince’s mother, Blanche of Navarre, and had not
ceased to aspire to the possession of an independent sover-
eign, were obviously desirous to make Charles their king.
The upshot of the matter was that in the spring of 1459
John sent over a special messenger to Sicily to order his son
to repair to Majorca, where the latter finally arrived on
August 20.} Meantime negotiations had been in progress
between the prince and his father. The former was, as
usual, willing to go to any lengths to obtain peace; but his

1 Deedevises "du Desert, pp. 253 8 Deedevises du Desert, pp. 259-265.
259; Ametller, ii, pp. 839-849. 3 Ibid., pp. 265-274.
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cause had of late been vigorously espoused by the liberty-
loving Catalonians, who rivalled the Navarrese in their
respect for the law, and, detesting the way in which John
had dared to override it, urged the prince to make a strong
stand for his rights. On the other side, the king and his
wife conducted the negotiations with the greatest skill and
duplicity ; and, pressing their advantage to the utmost, fi-
nally extorted from Charles in January, 1460, an agreement
by which the latter delivered to his father the principal for-
tresses of Navarre, allowed his rights as heir in that realm
and in Aragon to be passed over in silence, and received
in return merely his father’s pardon for faults which he had
never committed, and the permission to reside wherever he
wished, save in Sicily and in his native land. Two months
after the conclusion of this agreement, the prince arrived at
-Barcelona, where the population, who had followed his for-
tunes with increasing affection and solicitude, joyously
welcomed him as Primogenit, or heir to the throne.!
Clearly they thought that the fact that his title had been
passed over in the recent treaty meant that John had in-
tended to concede it to him; but they were enlightened on
this point a few days later in most unsatisfactory fashion
by a letter from the king to his chancellor, the bishop of
Gerona, in which they were strictly forbidden to treat or
address the prince as the heir or successor of his father.?
This mandate was taken by the Barcelonese as a violation
of their constitution. They resolved to defend the rights
of the prince; and from that moment the scene of interest
in this singular drama shifts from Navarre to Catalonia.
The events of the summer of 1460 served further to widen
the breach between father and son. In order to strengthen
himself for the struggle which he now foresaw was inevitable,
1 Desdevises du Desert, pp. 275-284. * Ibid., pp. 293-295.



DEATH OF CHARLES OF VIANA 27

Charles made overtures for the hand of the Infanta Isabella
of Castile — a plan doubly distasteful to his father, because
the accomplishment of it would necessarily render impossible
what was already the darling project of the latter’s heart,
namely the marriage of Isabella to his son Ferdinand. In
order to prevent it, the king suddenly appeared in Cata-
lonia, where he was received with a coldness which con-
trasted strongly with the popularity of the prince; and on
December 2, at Lerida, where John was holding the Catalo-
nian Cortes, Charles was suddenly arrested and ordered into
confinement.! But the liberty-loving Catalonians rushed to
the rescue of the captive. The Diputacién General took
his case under its protection, and after the failure of a num-
ber of embassies despatched to the king to demand his re-
lease, proclaimed the Somatent on February 8, 1461, “against
the evil counsellors of the crown.”? Taken entirely by
surprise, John was forced to yield. After a vain attempt to
extricate himself from his difficulties by diplomacy, he lib-
erated Charles, who in March returned to Barcelona amid
the cheers of the enthusiastic populace; and in the follow-
ing June he signed a treaty which was virtually an admission
of defeat. But the prince did not live long to enjoy the
victory which the valorous Catalonians had won for him;
on September 23, 1461, he fell ill and died at Barcelona.?

The death of Charles, however, was by no means the end
of the difficulties of the king of Aragon. In Navarre, the
prince’s two younger sisters, Blanche and Eleanor, still re-
mained — a bar to the succession of the Infante Ferdinand,
if not to John’s own possession of the throne during his life-
time ;4 while in Catalonia the prince’s demise, which was
universally believed to have been caused by foul play, in-

1 Desdevises du Desert, pp. 205-308. Desert, pp. 390-399, who rejects the
2 Calmette, pp. 43—46. theory that he was poisoned.
3 Calmette, p. 53; Deadevises du ¢ Calmette, pp. 32, 71, note.
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sured the continuance and increase of the rebellion. But be-
fore we examine the way in which John handled these two
problems, we must pause to introduce upon the stage another
actor, whose character bears striking resemblance to that of
the king of Aragon, though their aims were diametrically
opposed — the redoubtable Louis XI of France, who had
succeeded his father on the throne of that kingdom on
July 22, 1461. The fundamental idea of the policy of this
monarch was to increase the domains of the crown of France
at home at the expense of his feudal vassals, and abroad
at the expense of the neighboring realms; in Spain he
specially coveted the county of Catalonia.! Memories
of the days of the Spanish Mark furnished some historical
justification for this ambition; the acquisitions of St.
Louis at the expense of James the Conqueror were even
fresher in men’s minds; a French reconquest of Cerdagne
and Roussillon, and if possible of further territories to the
south of them, would be a fitting sequel to the treaty of
Corbeil.? The outbreak of the Catalonian revolt also,
which so nearly coincided with Louis’s accession, appar-
ently afforded a particularly favorable opportunity for
the prosecution of his plans. The question was, how would
he take advantage of it? Would he support the revolu-
tionists and ultimately attempt to make himself their
sovereign? Or would he support King John against them
and make the king of Aragon pay liberally for his aid ? 3

A brief testing of the first of these alternatives convinced
Louis of its futility from his point of view. The Catalans
were bent on the assertion of their rights, but they were not
willing to renounce their allegiance to the king of Aragon,
and still less to accept the sovereignty or tutelage of the
king of France.* The latter was consequently thrown back

1Calmette, p. 380. *Vol.I,pp. 289 ff. 3Calmette, p. 55. 4Calmette, pp. 63 f,
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on the policy of supporting John, and on April 12, 1462,
gigned with him a treaty at Olite, on the basis of mutual
guarantees in the possession of their respective states.!
But in addition to being a general agreement of friendship
and alliance between France and Aragon, the treaty of
Olite contained special provisions relative to the kingdom
of Navarre, where Louis was quite ready to cotperate with
John provided he could thereby facilitate his own aims in
Catalonia. John’s problem in Navarre was how to deal
with the two surviving sisters of the late prince: of whom
the elder, Blanche, the divorced wife of Henry the Impotent
of Castile, had been pronounced heiress of the realm in her
brother’s will, while the younger, Eleanor, had strengthened
herself by a marriage with her powerful French neighbor,
the brilliant Gaston de Foix.? Realizing that he could not
possibly hope to dispose of both these princesses at once and
thus clear the way for Ferdinand’s succession in Navarre,
John had made a virtue of necessity, and adopted the policy
of allying himself with the younger, for whose vigorous
husband he had a wholesome respect, against her elder
sister. Since 1455 he had drawn close to Gaston and
Eleanor de Foix, by an agreement which assured to them -
the Navarrese succession, and to himself the tenure of the
throne during his lifetime.? Now by the treaty of Olite
John obtained Louis’s support in this arrangement, and re-
ceived the French king’s promise to aid him in the conquest
of such places in Navarre as held out against him ; it was
further stipulated that the unfortunate Blanche should be
placed in the hands of her sister Eleanor, as a guarantee
against her asserting her own rights to the Navarrese throne.*
The very day after the signature of this compact, the un-

1 Calmette, pp. 69 f. 3 Calmette, pp. 32f.; D.1.E., xl, p.
2 Cf. H. Courteault, Gaston de Foiz, 541.
pp. 29 1., 84. 4 Calmette, p. 71.
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happy lady was informed that she must go to France, in
order, so she was told, that she might be wedded to the
Duke of Berry. The pretext did not deceive her, and she
protested violently, but in vain ; her father was obdurate.
Two months later she was virtually a prisoner in her sister’s
hands at the castle of Orthesz, whence she was subsequently
removed to Lescar; and there, on December 2, 1464, she
died, not improbably a victim of poison.! On April 30,
1462, during her journey northward, and with a full realiza-~
tion of the fate that was in store for her, she had bequeathed
all her rights to Navarre under her brother’s will and the
law of the land to her quondam husband, King Henry of
Castile, and his successors, to the prejudice of the claims
of Eleanor and her heirs; and Ferdinand the Catholic
subsequently adduced this bequest in support of his own
pretensions to Navarre by right of his wife Isabella.? At
this point the Navarrese question falls into the background ;
and we may leave it in order to return to Catalonia, merely
remarking, as we pass on, that the memory of John of
Aragon’s desperate struggles to gain for himself full control
of the little mountain kingdom furnishes the key to the
otherwise inexplicable lengths to which Ferdinand the
Catholic subsequently went to regain it. That monarch
had been brought up with the idea that Navarre was one
day to be his, and it never ceased to haunt him until he had
taken measures to realize it.? )

Less than a month after the signature of the treaty of
Olite, which dealt with the affairs of Navarre, the kings of
Aragon and France made another and more important pact
(May 9) at Bayonne, relative to the revolt in Catalonia.
It provided that Louis should furnish John military aid

1 Courteault, Gaston de Foiz, pp. 2 Calmette, p. 72, note 4.
246-249. 3 Calmette, p. 72.
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. against his rebel subjects, carefully defining its nature and
the amount of the money compensation to be paid for it,
and further stipulated that as soon as the revolt should
have been suppressed, the two border counties of Cerdagne
and Roussillon — the only Aragonese lands remaining north
of the Pyrenees — should be handed over to the king of
France until the payments due from the king of Aragon
should have been completed.! An entering wedge had
thus been driven for the French occupation of Catalonia —
. the ultimate goal of the ambition of Louis XI. On the
other hand, the news of the alienation of the counties nat~
urally completed the measure of the wrath of the Catalo-
nians against their king. Hitherto the revolt had been
conducted for the defence of the fueros, but without any
thought of the deposition of the monarch; now John and
his wife were solemnly declared public enemies and de-
prived of their royal rights, and the Diputacién General
arrogated to itself supreme power in Catalonia, on the plea
that it must act as regent for the ten-year-old Ferdinand.
It was, in fact, only a thinly veiled move for independence,
and by the following August even the farce of recognizing
the rights of the Infante was abandoned ;? the ancient tradi-
tions of the county, together with its extraordinary economic
prosperity, combined to give it the strength and prestige
to venture thus early on a struggle for complete freedom.
And the deeds of the revolutionists were fully worthy of
their declarations. The Diputacién General pushed for-
ward its preparations for military defence with energy and
success. At the opening of hostilities the queen and her
son were besieged in Gerona, and it was only with great

1 Calmette, pp. 84-92, 385401, 420- Manual de novells ardils vulgarment
439 apellat Dietari del Antich Consell Bar-

2 Calmette, pp. 94-08, 171 f.; celons, ii, pp. 408 f1.
D. I. A., xxi, passim, and xxii, p. 445;
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difficulty that the rescuing armies of Louis XI and Gaston
de Foix effected their deliverance on July 23. A siege of
Barcelona in the following autumn by a Franco-Aragonese
army under King John was a complete failure. The most
important result of the campaign had been to put Louis’s
army in practical possession of Cerdagne and Roussillon,
and in the early months of 1463 the king of France took
advantage of it. On March 2 he replied to a delegation of
the inhabitants, who came to inquire what his intentions
were in regard to the counties, with a series of casuistic
arguments justifying his annexation of them.! He had
already gone much further than any interpretation of the
treaty of Bayonne could possibly have warranted ; he was
treating Cerdagne and Roussillon as if they were to be
permanently an integral part of the kingdom of France.?
The occupation of the two border counties by the forces
of Louis XTI, culminating in this declaration of their annexa-
tion, was most displeasing both to John and to the Catalan
revolutionists. It enlightened the former as to the true
character of his treacherous ally, while it gave the latter
their first inkling that their independence was quite as
much in danger from France as from Aragon. Revenge
was for the moment quite out of the question for John, but
the insurgents’ reply to the French invasion was to throw
themselves into the arms of King Henry of Castile.? The
latter had many causes of quarrel with the king of Aragon.
The fact that Blanche of Navarre had declared him her
heir in that realm created another bone of contention be-
tween the two sovereigns, and also between the Castilian
monarch and Louis XI; and the latter’s failure promptly
to ratify and continue at his accession the traditional

1J. Vaesen, in Révus d'histoire diplo- 2 Calmette, pp. 167-169.
malique, i, pp. 441 ff. 3 Bitges, pp. 73 f.
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Franco-Castilian alliance was another factor which tended
to embroil them.! Indeed, as far back as August, 1462,
when the French armies had been in Cerdagne and Rous-
gillon only one short month, an ambassador was despatched
by the Diputacién General of Barcelona to the court of
Castile formally to offer the sovereignty of Catalonia to
Henry the Impotent. In September the latter accepted
it, and promised to send an army to the aid of his new
vassals; in December Castilian troops arrived on the con-
fines of Aragon.? For the French king this development
was most unwelcome. If the Castilian army should succeed,
as there was good reason to think it might, in completely
dispossessing the king of Aragon, Louis would have had all
his trouble for nothing, and would stand little chance of
retaining Cerdagne and Roussillon. At all costs he must
eliminate the king of Castile, and with this end in view he
put himself forward as arbitrator in the quarrel between
John and Henry ; he hoped that a peaceful solution of their
difficulties would induce the latter to retire to his own realm.?
To Louis’s proposal both sovereigns agreed — John as a
means of gaining time, Henry out of natural indolence and
desire to avoid war; and in the end of April, 1463, Louis
gave sentence at Bayonne to the effect that Henry should
abandon the Catalans, and John give up to Henry the
revenues of his Castilian estates and certain disputed ter-
ritories in Navarre.# The French king had thus got rid
of the Castilians, though at the cost of incurring their in-
creased enmity ; for they were deeply dissatisfied with his
award, and were subsequently to show it to his discomfiture.®
He had also diminished the difficulties of John of Aragon,
ostensibly still his ally but really his enemy, in Catalonia ;

1 Calmette, pp. 60, 170 f. ¢ Calmette, pp. 186-189.
# Calmette, pp. 172-174. s Calmette, pp. 189 f.
3 Calmette, p. 176.
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and yet, on the other hand, he had added to his irritation
by the concessions which he had obliged him to make in
Castile and Navarre. In other words, he had substantially
increased the causes that would naturally lead John to seek
ultimately to take revenge on himself; he had also paved
the way for that revenge.

John had to bide his time, however, for many years to
come; his path was still blocked in a number of different
directions. In June, 1463, the Catalans, deserted by
Castile, applied to Louis X1, to see if he could be induced to
abandon his alliance with the king of Aragon and aid them

“to win their independence. At first the French king held
out the highest hopes to the ambassadors, but his deeds
belied his words; and it was not long before the emissaries
became firmly convinced that he cared nothing whatsoever
for their liberties, and that the real object of his policy
was to unite Catalonia to his own domains.! The farce
of continuing the negotiations was kept up through the
remainder of the year, owing to the reluctance of both
parties to come to any definite decision; but all real hope
of an accommodation had vanished long before. Meantime
another power had become involved in the struggle, through
the action of the Catalans in offering their sovereignty to
Dom Pedro, the Constable of Portugal, whose maternal
grandfather had been one of the unsuccessful candidates
for the Aragonese throne after the death of King Martin
in 1410. This prince arrived in Barcelona on January 22,
1464 ; but he was feeble and ineffective to the last degree,
and under his unhappy tutelage the cause of the revolu-
tionists went from bad to worse till his death on June 29,
1466.2 With the story of the Constable’s misfortunes we
are not particularly concerned, but the episode of his inter-

1 Calmette, pp. 203-232. 2 Calmette, pp. 236-264.
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vention had an important bearing on the relations of Aragon
and Castile. The resentment which the sovereigns of these
two states had cherished against one another for many years
past had visibly cooled since Louis XI's attempt to arbitrate
between them in 1463. Many of their mutual grudges
had been forgotten in the heat of their common anger
against the arbitrator, and now the process of rapprochement
between the two Spanish courts, which the French king had
unwittingly initiated, was still further advanced by this
affair of Dom Pedro. It was of the utmost importance to
John that Henry should bear no aid to the new sovereign
of the rebel Catalans; if on the other hand the king of
Aragon could induce the king of Castile definitely to abandop
the Constable, it would be a long step towards ruining the
entente between the Castilian and Portuguese courts, whose
recent progress had so greatly worried John. On June 9,
1464, the king of Aragon gained his end by the signature
at Pamplona of a treaty with the king of Castile, in which
the two monarchs promised one another mutual aid against
their respective enemies. Castilian support of the Con-
stable, which had been more than possible a few months
before, was henceforth out of the question.! To be sure,
the king of Aragon was not yet certain enough of the loyalty
or power of Henry the Impotent to trust his fortunes ex-
clusively to him; and he had by no means abandoned his
own intrigues with the malcontents in Castile. Indeed,
at the very moment that he was negotiating for the treaty
of Pamplona, he was in active relations with the Pachecos ;2
the double game was ever dear to the heart of John II.
But, for all that, the signature of the treaty of Pamplona
was an interesting evidence of the real tendency of the times,
though contemporaries do not seem to have comprehended
1 Calmette, p. 253, note 1. t Ante, pp. 11 fI., and Calmette, pp. 298 f.
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its meaning. It was a milestone on the road to the marriage
of Ferdinand and Isabella.

Fresh complications ensued on the death of the Constable
of Portugal in 1466, when the Catalans offered their sov-
ereignty to a new protector — René the Good of Anjou
and Provence —of whom they expected better things.!
Though too old himself to embark upon such a perilous
venture, this ‘titular sovereign of half a dosen empires’?
had a son, the gallant John of Calabria, whom he could
send to the Catalans as his representative. Though he did
not actually possess a rood of the land that he claimed in
Sicily, Italy, and Jerusalem, he was solidly established in
hjs French dominions, and his tenure of Provence, which
had so many historical and commercial connections with
Catalonia, rendered him a particularly valuable ally for the
revolutionists. He was also descended, through his mother,
Violante, from the old line of the counts of Barcelona,
and was therefore not without hereditary claims;® while,
on the other hand, he was the head of a family that had
been the consistent opponent of the house of Aragon in
Sicily and the Mediterranean since the time of the Sicilian
Vespers, and had himself fought with Alfonso the Magnani-
mous over the succession in Naples.* Finally the new can-
didate received after some little delay a promise of support
and codperation from his nephew, King Louis of France,
who had begun to realize that he could never hope to attain
his ends in Catalonia through alliance with John, and there-
fore quite characteristically had determined to reverse his
policy ; the Italian ambitions of the French king also com-
bined at this juncture to induce him to favor the new pre-
tender.® Indeed, René's acceptance of the sovereignty of

1 Lecoy de la Marche, Le Rot René, 3 Calmette, p. 265.

i, pp. 366-379. 4 Ct. Vol. 1, pp. 419, 422,
 Presoott, i, p. 141. § Calmette, pp. 271-274.
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Catalonia and its results may be regarded as a link in the
chain that binds the Angevin-Aragonese struggle of the two
preceding centuries to the Franco-Spanish wars of the
succeeding age. It fills the gap between the triumph of.
Alfonso the Magnanimous and the raid of Charles VIII.
The Catalan question, in fact, was rapidly becoming a
European one, in which all the various powers were to take
sides either for or against the king of Aragon. The Angevin
military occupation of the county, which began in the spring
of 1467, was checked, though not wholly prevented, through
the skill and intrepidity of Joanna Enrfquez and of the
Infante Ferdinand, who received in this campaign his
baptism of fire;? but the military events are of far less
consequence for our purposes than the diplomatic ones.
Here, as may be imagined, it was the old king of Aragon who
took the lead ; and though he was terribly hampered by his
blindness,? and weakened in the winter of 1468 by the death
of his valorous wife, his efforts were extraordinarily success-
ful. At the crisis of his political fortunes, he was found at his
very best. His object was to draw near to any and every
power which could possibly be made an enemy of France
and Anjou, and his agents all over Europe were busy in
effecting this end. In Italy he managed to win the support
of the duke of Milan — the more important because Louis
had counted the Sforza as an ally of his own.! He also
approached Charles the Bold of Burgundy and Edward IV
of England.* But unquestionably his most brilliant victory
was won in the kingdom of Castile. He had keenly ob-
served the course of events in that realm since the signature

1 Calmette, pp. 275-283; Lecoy de fully performed by a Jewish doctor,
la Marche, Le Roi René, i, pp. 374- named Caixcas Abiabar, in September,
378. 1468. Cf. Calmette, p. 296, note 4.

2 It was at its worst in this period. 3 Calmette, pp. 287-289.
An operation for cataract was sucoees- 4 Calmette, pp. 290 f.
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of the treaty of Pamplona in June, 1464 : the triumph of
the rebels and the humiliation of the king of Avila in 1465,
the subsequent waverings of the policy of the crown and
the project of the marriage of the Infanta Isabella to the
grand master of Calatrava, the second battle of Olmedo,
the sudden death of the Infante Alfonso, and finally the
reconciliation of Toros de Guisando ; so rapidly did fortune
change between the conflicting factions that the king of
Aragon must have been exceedingly thankful that he had
kept in touch with both sides. Still it would obviously be
preferable for him if possible to gain his ends in alliance
with the de jure power in Castile, rather than in opposition
to it ; and whatever the internal state of the western king-
dom, the course of its foreign policy in the last two years had
been such as to give John of Aragon good reason to hope
much from the attitude of Henry the Impotent. Two
features of the situation were especially encouraging. The
first was the Castilian king’s refusal to ratify the treaty
with Portugal which his queen had drawn up in 1465 and
which provided for the marriage of the Princess Isabella
to Affonso the African! The second was his conclusion,
in the summer of 1467, of an alliance with Edward IV of
England, which marked the definite breach of the tradi-
tional entente between Castile and France.? Indeed, it is
by no means fantastic to suppose that the king of Aragon
may have contributed to both these results, though we
have no positive evidence of it. And now, with the death
of Alfonso and the subsequent recognition of the Princess
Isabella as the lawful successor to her brother’s thronme,
the time had come for vigorous and decisive action. The
~acknowledged heiress of Castile could not in the nature of

1Cf. ante, D. }4. Calmette, p. 204, who misdates the
2 Daumet, Etude sur Ualliance ds la  treaty September 1; it should be July 1.
France et ds la Castille, pp. 109 {., and
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things remain unwedded long. If her marriage to the
Infante Ferdinand — the cornerstone of the whole policy
of John IT — was ever to be realized, there was not a mo-
ment to be lost.

The king of Aragon and his son did not even wait for the,
news of the interview at Toros de Guisando to make over-
tures for Isabella’s hand; an ambassador was despatched
to Castile carrying the formal proposals for it in July, 1468,
as soon as the death of Prince Alfonso was known.! Isa-
bella, who was fully alive to the political advantages of the
match, and had received most favorable reports of Ferdi-
nand’s personal charms, accepted at once, and the marriage
treaty was drawn up and duly signed in January, 1469.2
But serious opposition both abroad and at home remained
to be encountered and overcome before the union of the
royal pair could be actually accomplished. Louis XI of
France, aroused too late to a realization of the results of his
neglect of Castilian affairs, made haste in the spring of 1469
to despatch to Henry’s court a special ambassador, Jean
Jouffroi, bishop of Albi, charged with the double duty of
revamping the old Franco-Castilian alliance at the expense
of the more recent Anglo-Castilian one, and of offering Louis’s
brother, the Duke of Guienne, as an alternative candidate
for Isabella’s hand. In the first of these errands the bishop
was successful, owing to the vacillations of Henry IV;
but in the second and more important one he utterly failed,
despite several interviews with the Infanta herself.* The
marriage which was to unite the Spanish realms was thus
accomplished in the teeth of the displeasure and opposition
of the king of France; but it had also been greatly facili-

1Sitges, p. 194, likely with a view to the Castilian match.
t Sitges, p. 106. Ferdinand had been  Zurita, iv, ff. 166-157.
raised by his father to the dignity of $ Daumet, op. cit., pp. 110 {.; Sxt.gu,
king of Sicily on June 18, 1468, very pp. 192 {.; Calmette, pp. 295 !
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tated by the mistakes of Louis’s whole Spanish policy in
earlier years; so that the Catholic Kings came to the throne
with a tradition of hostility to France behind them, which
was to bear terrible fruit in the succeeding age.

But John and Ferdinand had other things that worried
them far more, for the time being, than the abortive opposi-
tion of the king of France. Chief of these was the hostility
which the prospect of Isabella’s marriage aroused in Castile.
No sooner were the intentions of the princess known, than
the majority of the grandees, foreseeing the end of their inde-
pendence if the monarchy was suffered to become too strong,
forgot the reconciliation of Toros de Guisando, and prepared
to espouse the cause of La Beltraneja. Nay more, with
the aid of the treacherous Marquis of Villena, they won
over the fickle king to support them, and still further
strengthened their hands by reviving the project of earlier
years, that the Princess Isabella should be wedded to
Affonso of Portugal! This last plan was wrecked on the
firm refusal of the Infanta to entertain it ; moreover a con-
siderable number of the grandees, among whom the most
prominent was the archbishop of Toledo, rallied to her side,
while the popular sympathy for her cause was manifested
on every hand in no uncertain tone. Still, her situation
in the spring of 1469 was critical in the extreme. She held
her court, virtually unprotected and alone, at first at Ocafia,
near Toledo, and afterwards at Madrigal, south of Valla-
dolid. She was being constantly spied upon by her numer-
ous foes, and was subject at a moment’s notice to capture
and imprisonment. In the end of August, while her brother
~ and the Marquis of Villena were on a progress in Andalusia,

they directed the archbishop of Seville to march with suffi-
cient forces to her residence and seize her; but the plan was
1 Bitges, pp. 189 £.; Zurita, iv, . 161-162.
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frustrated by the energy of her friend the primate, who was
never found wanting if a battle of any kind was to be fought,
and succeeded in carrying her off in triumph to the friendly
shelter of Valladolid.!

Nothing, however, could permanently secure the In-
fanta’s safety so effectively as the speedy completion of her
marriage. Envoys were therefore despatched to Aragon
to urge Ferdinand to come and claim his bride. As John,
in the throes of his struggle with the rebels in Catalonis,
was utterly unable to furnish his son with a military force
sufficient to cope with his foes, the Infante was obliged to
undertake the perilous journey with only a few attendants,
disguised as merchants, and at night; not until he reached
Burgo de Osma did he receive the protection of the partisans
of his betrothed, and it was later still before he was able
to throw off all concealment. In the evening of the fifteenth
of October he reached Valladolid and held his first interview
with the princess; and on the nineteenth, at the private
residence of Juan de Vivero, they were married. So great
was the poverty of bride and groom that they were appar-
ently obliged to borrow money to pay the expenses of their
wedding and of the simple ceremonies which followed it;
and the contemporary chroniclers, who usually wax elo-
quent in their descriptions of such events, are almost silent
about the whole affair. But no outward pomp or circum-
stance could possibly have added lustre to the union which
created the mightiest nation of the sixteenth century and
laid the foundation for one of the two greatest empires of
modern times. The real celebration of the marriage of
Ferdinand and Isabella was the glorious epoch in Spanish
annals which it introduced.?

1 Bitges, p. 197. i, pp. 188-193; Calmette, p. 297;
2 Palencia, ii, pp. 281-285; Prescott, Sitges, pp. 198-205.



42 THE MARRIAGE OF FERDINAND AND ISABELLA

The characters of the monarchs whose wedding had been
solemnized under such unusual circumstances have been
so often and so fully described! that it is difficult to add
anything more; but as the period of their reign was that
in which above all others the personalities of kings deter-
mined the policy and prestige of kingdoms, it is impossible
to pass over the subject in silence. The contemporary
chroniclers are absurdly loud in their praises of both sover-
eigns, particularly of Isabella; and even some of the modern
historians have not entirely avoided exaggeration. Piety,
dignity, inflexible determination and high courage, both
moral and physical, were the outstanding virtues of the
queen ; intolerance and excessive fondness for pomp and
display her most obvious faults. Her main aim in life
was to reduce her kingdom to internal peace, order, and
union, and to level all barriers and distinctions under the
throne; and for the accomplishment of that mighty task
her character and abilities pre#minently fitted her. No
less heroic a figure could possibly have humbled the rebel
baronage, or invested the administration of justice with

the majesty which should be inseparable from the law. Her

husband, on the other hand, was essentially cosmopolitan
in his talents and qualities — as distinctively the product
of the land whose main attention had been directly to for-
eign affairs, as was Isabella of a country which had been
chiefly occupied at home. Cautious, calculating, and
persistent ; parsimonious, though to good purpose, like
his contemporary Henry VII of England ;2 he never acted
impulsively, never struck unless he was well able to follow

1 Notably by Clemencin, in Me- 211 Re di Bpagna presente, se fusse
morsas de la R. A. H., vi, pp. 1-864; by tenuto liberale, non arebbe fatto nd
Prescott, iii, pp. 173-194, 869-382; vinto tante imprese.”” Machiavelli, I!
ﬁzlz‘y Lea, Inguisition of Spain, i, pp.  Principe, cap. xvi.
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up the blow. Deficient in frankness, generosity, and other
qualities which win men’s affections, he was on the whole
less highly esteemed than was the queen, and was not un-
naturally detested by the victims of his political triumphs;
but the real man, as revealed by his correspondence, steadily
improves on closer acquaintance. Diplomacy was un-
questionably his forte; and as the diplomacy of the time
consisted chiefly in lying, we need not wonder that Machia-
velli held him up as a model for princes in his skill at “ play-
ing the fox.””! Ferdinand himself was quite aware of his
abilities in this regard and gloried in them. It is said that
on learning that Louis XII of France had complained that
he had deceived him for the second time, he promptly re-
plied, “He lies, it’s the tenth.” Other subsidiary merits
and defects of the royal pair will be indicated in the succeed-
ing pages; for the present we need only remark that the
above mentioned qualities in each formed the most complete
and perfect counterpart of those of the other. Ferdinand
and Isabella supplemented one another at every point;
where the one was weak, the other was strong, and vice
" versa. Between them they possessed talents which would
make it possible for their united realms to follow up each and
all of the multifarious paths of activity that opened before
them on every side. At the most critical stage of her de-
velopment, Spain was thus enabled to pursue all the national
objects which had previously animated her component
parts, and to assume many fresh burdens besides.
1 Machiavelli, I Principe, cap. xviil.
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CHAPTER XIII

THE STRUGGLE FOR THE THRONES AND THE CONQUEST
OF GRANADA

THE union of the Spanish kingdoms, which was the ulti-
mate object of the policy of John of Aragon, was far from
being fully accomplished by the marriage of Ferdinand and
Isabella. The best possible start had already been made;
but there was still much more to be done before the future
sovereigns could call their thrones their own. Castile had
to be pacified and united, the power of the factions abased,
and that of the monarchy exalted. Hostile France and
Portugal had to be dealt with, and their recognition won.
The Catalan insurrection had to be put down, and the king-
dom of Granada conquered from the Moors. The narrative
- side of the story of these events will occupy us in the present
chapter; thesocial and constitutional aspects will be treated
in the two succeeding ones.

The news of the marriage of Ferdinand and Isabella was
most displeasing to Henry IV; while Louis XI of France,
who had awakened too late to the true state of affairs in
Spain, could not at first believe that his tardy efforts to pre-
vent it had been unsuccessful.! The two kings were natu-
rally drawn close together by their common enmity to the
newly wedded pair, and speedily prepared to join forces
against them. Within a year of the marriage of his sister,
the Castilian sovereign, in flagrant defiance of the pact of
Toros de Guisando, made oath to the legitimacy of La

1 Sitges, p. 194,
46
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Beltraneja, once more acknowledged her as lawful heiress
of his throne, and finally caused her to be married by proxy
to Louis’s brother, the Duke of Guienne, who shortly before
had been suing for the hand of the Princess Isabella.! This
combination, supported as it was by a large number of the
Castilian grandees, boded ill for the cause of Ferdinand and
his bride; but there were two serious weaknesses in it
which ultimately effected its ruin. In the first place, it was
largely the work of Louis XI, a foreign monarch, and if it
attained its ends, it was bound to carry the sovereignty of
Castile across the Pyrenees. This fact naturally elicited
vigorous opposition among those whose patriotism was not
entirely subordinated to their desires for personal aggran-
dizement; and it is highly significant that as soon as the
news of it was made public, the inhabitants of the north-
western provinces — the traditional cradle of Spanish inde-
pendence — went over to support the cause of Ferdinand
and Isabella.? Secondly, and even more important, the.
entente cordiale between Louis and his brother, which under-
lay the entire scheme, was only temporary. In less than a
year after his proxy marriage, the Duke of Guienne had
applied to the Pope for dispensation alike from the oath of
fidelity which he had made to the king of France and from
his union with his Spanish bride.? He was already negotiat-
ing with Charles the Bold of Burgundy, in whom he discerned
a far more powerful ally than the Impotent King of Castile.
In the autumn of 1471, he had even gone so far as to apply
for the hand of Charles’s daughter, Mary. But before he
could make much progress with this new plan he died, on
May 25,1472.* His removal served to relieve Louis XI from
serious embarrassments at home, but it also terminated the
1 Bitges, pp. 207-228. I'Histoire de France, iv, pp. 265,

2 Presoott, i, p. 197. 306.
3 Lettres de Louis XI, ed. Bociété de 4 Bitges, p. 228.
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project of French interference in Castile, of which his
marriage with La Beltraneja had been the corner stone. If
the French king continued to desire to breed trouble for
Ferdinand and Isabella in Spain, he would have to find other
methods.

Meantime in Castile everything was in turmoil and con-
fusion. Ferdinand and Isabella held their little court at
Duefias, but were so destitute of resources that they were
. unable to take arms against their foes. In fact, down to the
death of Henry the Impotent, they did everything, short of
renouncing their rights to the succession, in order to main-
tain friendly relations with him.! But the king would not
abandon La Beltraneja, nor desist from his efforts to find a
husband for her. After the summer of 1471, when the
match with Guienne had become practically out of the
question, he dallied with schemes for wedding her to Fred-
eric, the son of Ferrante of Naples; to Henry of Aragon,
a nephew of John II ; and finally to Affonso the African of
Portugal.? None of these projects was realized — at least
not in Henry’s day — but the negotiations for them, and
the fact that there was no prospect of a permanent recon-
ciliation between Henry and his sister, served to keep the
realm in an uproar during the last three years of the Im-
potent King. Andalusia was devastated by the bloody feuds
of the Ponce de Leons and the Guzsmans.®? All the highways
in the realm were infested with robbers and thieves; even
the hermandades seemed temporarily powerless.* Late in
the year 1473, Henry and Isabella held an interview at
Segovia, during which they manifested every evidence of
outward friendship and cordiality. At Epiphany, 1474,

1 Prescott, i, pp. 197-201. In 1473, * Sitges, pp. 220-231.
moreover, Ferdinand was summoned to 8 Bernéfldes, cape. iii, iv.
Catalonia to help his father against the 4J. Puyol y Alonso, Las Herman-

revolutionists there. dades, pp. 89-90.
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Ferdinand was also received by the king of Castile, and in
the succeeding months there were other meetings. Still,
no understanding was apparently reached on the crucial
question of the succession to the throne, and “since many
things which it were perilous to set down were alleged con-
cerning each party, it was impossible to make peace be-
tween them.” ! Finally, on December 11, 1474, King Henry
died in his palace at Madrid. A careful comparison of the
statements of contemporary chroniclers and of the documents
bearing on the case points to the probability that he left
no formal or written will; but it seems clear that he de-
clared verbally on his deathbed that he recognized La Bel-
traneja as his daughter and as lawful heiress of his throne.
There can be little doubt that she was the legal successor.
She was unquestionably the daughter of the queen of Castile,
born in the royal palace; and the allegations of her foes in
regard to her paternity were never definitely proved. Fi-
nally, she had been formally acknowledged and sworn to
by the Castilian Cortes as the heiress of the realm, and had
been recognized as such by King Henry.?

But if the strict letter of the law was on the side of La
Beltraneja, expediency and the political interests of the
kingdoms of Spain dictated the recognition of Isabella, who
was solemnly crowned queen of Castile in Segovia two days
after her brother’s death.® She already represented, in fact,
the nascent idea of Iberian unity, and the principle of freedom
from foreign intervention. It was for these reasons, rather
than because of any legal argument which she advanced in

1 8itges, pp. 245-247; Enriques del body'ssubsequent recognition of Isabella
Castillo, Crénica, cap. clxiv (B. A. E., at Ocafia, but Sitges (p. 190) rightly
Ixx, p. 318). points out that this statement rests

2 Sitges, pp. 8, 120 f., 248-254; solely on a protestation of Isabella in
Prescott, i, pp. 213-215. The latter (i, 1471, the veracity of which it is per-
p. 220) says that the acknowledgment missible to doubt.
by the Cortes of La Beltraneja's right 8 Sitges, p. 2563.
to the suocession was reversed by that
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support of her claims, that the majority of patriotic Cas-
tilians rallied loyally to her standard. Many of the nobles,
also, began to waver in their allegiance to La Beltraneja,
and sought reconciliation with Isabella. The prospect of
her strong rule was probably no more palatable to them than
before, but they had begun to discern that the ultimate
victory would probably rest with her, and they did not care
to be found in the ranks of her foes. Among them were the
Duke of Albuquerque, reputed father of La Beltraneja, and
the powerful house of Mendoza; even the treacherous
Marquis of Villena apparently made secret overtures to the
queen at this period, though the parties were unable to come
to any definite agreement. On the other hand, the arch-
bishop of Toledo, angered at a slight at the hands of Ferdi-
nand, deserted the cause of his spouse, declaring that ‘as
he had released her from spinsterhood, so he would send her
back to the distaff again.’! As long as this sort of senti-
ment was rife in the realm, Isabella could not be said to
hold the throne of Castile. And the forces of the opposition
were the more to be reckoned with, because they were to
receive ardent support at the critical moment from King
Affonso the African of Portugal.

This impetuous monarch, as we have already seen, had
previously entertained high hopes of winning the Castilian
succession by marrying either Isabella or her niece, La
Beltraneja. As soon as the news of Henry IV’s death
reached him, he prepared to return to the charge. In early
January, 1475, he had resolved to gather his forces, invade
Castile, and, after wedding La Beltraneja, to incorporate it
in his own dominions.? On the eighth of that month he
wrote to solicit the aid of Louis XI of France, who, after
considerable delay and tentative negotiations with the other

1 Sitges, pp. 264-266, 277. 8 Sitges, p. 267.
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side, agreed in September to support him. Meantime, dur-
ing the early days of May, Affonso entered Castile with a
small but efficient army, joined forces with the Marquis of
Villena, was solemnly affianced to La Beltraneja, and was
recognized with her by their adherents as lawful sovereign
of the realm.! But the Portuguese monarch was as un-
accountably dilatory in substantiating his claims to the
Castilian throne as he had previously been precipitate in
advancing them. At the moment of his invasion, Ferdinand
and Isabella were totally unprepared to resist him. Had
he struck at once, before they had had an opportunity to
collect their forces, he might possibly have compassed their
defeat. But instead he waited idly for resnforcements
from his Castilian confederates, and thus afforded his rivals
a precious respite, which they well knew how to utilize.
Proposals for a settlement of their differences by personal
combat between Affonso and Ferdinand, and also for peace
on the basis of the cession to the former of Galicia, Toro,
Zamora, and a large money indemnity were exchanged, but
ended in nothing;? and in the meantime, by superhuman
exertions, Ferdinand and Isabella recruited every available
soldier from those portions of the realm which remained
loyal to them.® Finally Ferdinand made a move to capture
the town of Zamora on the Douro, 8o as to cut his enemy’s
communications, and thus brought Affonso to bay; the
Portuguese monarch, who had recently received considerable
reénforcements under his son, was obliged to accept battle
on March 1, 1476, on a wide plain to the east of the city of
Toro.* It was “a noble combat of the ancient sort,” as
one of the Portuguese historians remarks with satisfaction,
“for in spite of the presence of artillery and gunpowder,

1 Sitges, pp. 267 f.; Berndldes, caps. 8 Preacott, i, pp. 230-235.
xvii, xviii, xix. 4 8itges, pp. 305 {.
2 Sitges, pp. 302 f,
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destined to revolutionize the art of war,” it was decided for
the most part by hand-to-hand conflicts with swords, “mak-
ing the whole a contest rather of physical strength than of
skill.” Night and a deluge of rain put an end to the fighting,
and the Portuguese writers are fond of pointing out that as
Affonso’s son remained in possession of the battleground
till the following morning the conflict can scarcely be re-
garded as a defeat for his side.! But if the forces of Ferdi-
nand and Isabella were denied the glory of a complete victory
in the field, they certainly succeeded in gathering all the
fruits of it. The military and political prestige of their
rival was shattered beyond repair. Zamora surrendered on
March 19; in June Affonso retired with La Beltraneja to
Portugal, and the remnants of his army were soon dispersed.
On the other hand, Ferdinand and Isabella did everything
in their power to make all men believe that they had won
an overwhelming victory. Processions and thanksgiving
services were ordered in the chief towns of the realm. The
captured standard of Affonso V was solemnly laid on the
tomb of John I of Castile, in reparation for the great defeat
of Aljubarrota ninety-one years. before. The convent
church of San Juan de los Reyes at Toledo was founded to
commemorate their triumph.?

But the fiery king of Portugal was unwilling to desist from
his Castilian project without one more attempt to retrieve
his fortunes. French aid, as he now clearly realized, was
more than ever indispensable to success; and with the
object of securing it, he repaired in the summer of 1476 by
way of Ceuta and the Mediterranean Sea to the court of
Louis XI.* But in the meantime that crafty monarch had

1 Antonio de Lebrija, decad. i, lib. Sousa Viterbo, A Batalha ds Touro
v, cap, vii; Preascott, i, pp. 285-244; (1900).
Oliveira Martins and other writers, 8 Sitges, p. 312.
cited in Sitges, pp. 306-312, especially 3 Ruy de Pina, Chronica &’ El-Res D.
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taken the measure of Affonso’s incompetence. His own
troops, sent to the succor of his Portuguese ally, had failed
to make any impression in the north of Castile. He had
begun to realize that he stood little chance of successfully
opposing Ferdinand and Isabella, and that he had better
make haste to treat with them.! He therefore put off the
requests of Affonso with various excuses, and soon after per-
mitted him to visit the court of his rival, Charles the Bold,
ostensibly for the purpose of mediating between Burgundy
and France. Charles, who was Affonso’s cousin, did not take
long to convince him of the faithlessness of Louis; and on
January 21, 1477, the Portuguese monarch was back again
at Paris, where he received news of the Burgundian duke’s
defeat and death in the battle of Nancy sixteen days before.?
For some months more he hung about the French court,
wasting his time in fruitless negotiations for a papal bull
of dispensation for his marriage to La Beltraneja; when at
last he was roused to a sense of the ridiculous and humiliating
situation in which he had placed himself, he suddenly re-
solved to resign the throne of Portugal in favor of his son,
and end his days in a monastery in Jerusalem.}? But the
protests of his friends and of the king of France prevented
the execution of this project; in the autumn of 1477 the
unhappy monarch returned to his own dominions, where
his son, who had already assumed the crown, made haste to
relinquish it in his favor.* Once more Affonso prepared to
try his fortunes by the sword. He collected his forces,
notified the king of France of his intentions, and in the early

Affonso V, caps. cxcii-cclii; Damifio Ferdinand and Charles the Bold at this
de Goes, Chronica do Pringipe D. Joao, juncture, cf. J. Calmette in B. H., vii,
cap. Ixxxix; Sitges, p. 314. pp. 34-87.

1 Pulgar, Crénica de los Reyes Catés- ? Bitgee, pp. 315 1. ; PulmCMnm,
licos, pt. ii, eaps. liii, liv (B. A. B.,. pt. ii, cap. lxxxv (B . B, Ixx, p.
Ixx, p. 308). 341).

_ "Bitges, p. 315. On the relations of 4 Sitges, pp. 816-820.
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months of 1479 again invaded Castile. But his chances
of success, slight three years before, had by this time
dwindled to nothing. Ferdinand and Isabella had already
begun to reorganize their kingdom. They had received the
submission of the majority of the rebel nobles. A treaty
with Louis XI, though not yet actually signed, was in-
evitable in the near future.! The only battle of the ensuing
campaign was fought near Albuera, February 28, 1479;
before hostilities could proceed any further, negotiations
for a settlement had begun between Isabella and Affonso’s
sister-in-law, the Infanta Beatrice of Portugal. In the fol-
lowing September, two treaties, reiterating and confirming
the ancient peaces, were concluded by the accredited repre-
sentatives of both kingdoms.? One of them further pro-
vided for a mutual restoration of conquests along the Cas-
tilian-Portuguese border; since, however, its main interest
for us lies in its stipulations with regard to the Canaries
and the west coast of Africa, it may be most conveniently
reserved for consideration in another place.! The other,
which more immediately concerns us, dealt directly with
the dynastic question. It decreed that Affonso should
abandon the title of king of Castile, and Ferdinand and
Isabella that of sovereigns of Portugal; that the king and
queen of Castile should pardon and restore to their estates
such of their subjects as had supported the Portuguese in
the recent war; that their daughter Isabella should wed
Affonso, the little grandson of the king of Portugal, to ce-
ment the union and concord between the two realms; and,
finally, that La Beltraneja should either be married to John,
the infant son of Ferdinand and Isabella, or else take the veil.4

1 Sitges, pp. 321-332. 8 Cf. infra, pp. 173 .

* Balaguer, Reyes Catdlicos, vol. i, pp. 4 Ruy de Pina, Chronica, caps. covi,

391-419, passim; Fernindes Duro, oovii, occix; Pulgar, pt. ii, cap. xci
Marina de Castilla, p. 262. (B. A.E., Ixx, pp. 347 1.). The text of
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That unfortunate lady was not long in choosing be-
tween the alternatives which had been set before her.
Thoroughly tired of being the sport of factions, she entered
the convent of Santa Clara de Coimbra, with the full
approval, if not at the positive exhortation, of Ferdinand
and Isabella; and the wretched king of Portugal, equally
weary of the cares of state, was only prevented from retir-
ing to a monastery by his death at Cintra, August 28, 1481.
Seldom, if ever, has a royal career so gloriously begun had a
more utterly farcical termination.

Thus was the union of Aragon and Castile consummated,
as it were, in the teeth of the opposition of Portugal. Ac-
cident rather than design was responsible for the way things
had worked out. Geographically and historically, as we
have already seen, Portugal possessed many more ties with
Castile than did the eastern kingdoms, at least down to the
accession of the house of Trastamara to the thrones of the
realms of Aragon; and linguistically, when we remember
that Catalan, Valencian, and Italian, rather than Spanish,
were spoken in the bulk of the Aragonese dominions, she
was scarcely further apart from Castile than were they.
Throughout the later Middle Ages Castile had sought
alliances with the royal house of Portugal quite as often
as with that of Aragon, and it was largely by alternative
plans of union with Portugal that the enemies of Ferdinand
and Isabella attempted to subvert the ends for which their
marriage stood. That Castile turned eastward rather than
westward when the decisive moment came, was a fact of
the gravest import for her future career. Had she united
with Portugal rather than Aragen, she would probably
have avoided entanglement in all the weary KEuropean

the treaty is printed in Sitges,'pp. 409~ ’1 Ruy ‘de Pina, Chronica, cap. ocxii;
463. Prescott, i, p. 261; Sitges, p. 336.
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wars and diplomacy which issued out of the struggle over
the Neapolitan inheritance. She might well have been
able to devote herself exclusively to the upbuilding of a
great imperial domain on the Atlantic. She might have
avoided that multiplicity of conflicting interests, powers,
and responsibilities, which, though it doubtless served to
enhance her prestige for a time, proved ultimately to be
a potent cause of her decline.. To speculate on what might
have been is proverbially idle; but in the light of our pres-
ent knowledge it certainly seems that the union of Castile
and Aragon, though attended for the time being by most
brilliant results, was ultimately productive of effects far
less beneficent than would have followed a union of Castile
and Portugal. There can be no question that it diverted
both parties to the bargain from their normal and tradi-
tional lines of development. It forced Castile into Mediter-.
ranean politics and Aragon into expansion in the New
World; and the final result of it was to create an organism
so vast, so complicated, and so cumbersome, that it was
literally impossible that it should endure.

We have purposely forborne to carry to a conclusion the
story of the relations of Ferdinand and Isabella with Louis
XT of France, because it can be more conveniently finished
in connection with the affairs of Aragon and Catalonia, to
which we now turn.

We left the old king of Aragon in 1469, at the time of
Ferdinand’s marriage, in the midst of a military and diplo-
matic duel with the Angevin suzerains of the rebels in
Catalonia. Encouraged by the brilliant success of his
Castilian policy, John continued throughout the year
1470 to spin his anti-French intrigues with the Italian
states, and to wage desultory warfare with his foes in his
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own dominions and in Navarre. Finally, on December
16, he had a stroke of good fortune in the sudden death of
John of Calabria, the idolised leader of the revolutionists.!
A triple alliance which John managed to conclude on No-
vember 1, 1471, with Ferrante of Naples and Charles the
Bold of Burgundy against Louis XI of France, served as
an excellent guarantee against the latter’s ability to lend aid
to the Angevins for a further prosecution of their designs
on Catalonia. It also enabled the king of Aragon, who
had hitherto been obliged to stand upon the defensive, to
take vigorous measures to crush the revolutionists.?
Throughout the first part of the year 1472 the Catalans
continued to hope; but the promises of old René of Anjou
availed nothing without the support of the French king, who
was by this time convinced that an Angevin occupation of
Catalonia would bring him no nearer the realization of his
own ends there, and consequently sought rather to oppose
it} The refusal of Galeazzo Maria Sforza to permit the
Genoese fleet to revictual Barcelona in September, 1472,
when the city was besieged by the forces of the king of -
Aragon, bore witness to the efficiency of the latter’s Italian
diplomacy, and sealed the fate of the revolutionists. On
October 17 John entered his capital in triumph. With a
moderation, rare in those days, which does high honor
to his political sagacity, the victorious monarch forbore
to take vengeance on his rebel subjects; he confirmed all
their privileges and assured them of his good will. He
thereby obliterated many of the bitter memories of earlier
days, and laid the foundations for the restoration of cordial
relations between the inhabitants of the county and the
throne.* ‘

1 Calmette, pp. 300-315; Lecoy de 3 Calmette, pp. 834-337; Lecoy de

1a Marche, Le Roi René, i, p. 878. 1a Marche, Le Ros René, i, pp. 378-883.
$ Calmette, p. 319. 4 Calmette, pp. 337-347.
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There remained the difficult problem of the border coun-
ties of Cerdagne and Roussillon, which the armies of Louis
XTI had occupied in 1462, and which the French king had
declared, in defiance of the treaty of Bayonne, to be per-
manently incorporated in his dominions. John was all on
fire to reconquer them. The French maladministration of
the counties made their inhabitants long for a return to the
obedience of the king of Aragon, and constant plots were
hatched, with his connivance, for the overthrow of the ex-
isting régime. In February, 1473, John was able to enter
the town of Perpignan and inspire the inhabitants with his
own indomitable courage; and when, two months later, a
French army arrived to besiege it, the vigor of its resistance
and the fear of the effects of the obviously cordial relations
between Charles the Bold and the king of Aragon con-
vinced Louis of the advisability of coming to terms. On
September 17, by the peace of Perpignan, John II had the
extreme satisfaction of forcing his ancient rival to agree to
an arrangement which practically reiterated the provisions
of the treaty of Bayonne. One slight modification was this
time introduced by the king of Aragon, in the vain hope that
it would insure the observance of the pact which Louis
had violated ten years before. Pending the payment of
his debt — now estimated at 300,000 écus — to the king
of France, John insisted that the counties should be ad-
ministered, not as before by Louis, but by a governor-
general selected by the latter from a list of ten proposed by
himself. It was-as notable a triumph for the diplomacy
of the king of Aragon as it was a signal humiliation for the
sovereign of France, but it was not destined to be perma-
nent.! Notwithstanding all his efforts, John was unable to
raise money for the deliverance of the counties; and mean-

Calmette, pp. 358-378. »
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time a temporary cessation of Louis’s difficulties at home
enabled the French king to send another army of invasion
into the disputed territories, with instructions to “lay waste
the land until not a fruit tree remained standing.” The
inhabitants made a desperate resistance, and Roussillon
got the name of the ‘graveyard of the French,” but it was
all in vain. Perpignan fell on March 10, 1475, and Louis
promptly installed his representatives in both counties,
with instructions to pillage and plunder indiscriminately,
which they were sensible enough to disobey.! Had the
king of Aragon not been 8o old and feeble, or had Ferdinand
not been so exclusively occupied with the vindication of
his rights in Castile, the French king would probably have
been expelled at once. As things fell out, the liberation of
Cerdagne and Roussillon was bequeathed by King John to
his son as a sacred duty, and when at last the opportunity
came, we shall see that the latter did not fail to take ad-
vantage of it.

Thenceforth the scene of the diplomatic struggle between
John and Louis shifts from Aragon to Castile, and Fer-
dinand begins to replace his father as the protagonist on
the Spanish side. Louis’s certainty that neither the king
of Aragon nor his son would ever-permanently acquiesce
in the loss of Cerdagne and Roussillon was doubtless an
important element in causing him to ally himself with Af-
fonso of Portugal, when that monarch attempted to secure
the Castilian succession; and thus the Franco-Aragonese
quarrel of the past began to be transformed into the Franco-
Spanish struggle of the future. But there was to be one
more lull before the final bursting of the storm. The Bur-
gundian troubles, experience of the inefficiency of the
Portuguese king, and the traditional friendship of France

1 Zurita, iv, f1. 206-211, 318-219, 227-320.
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and Castile, all combined to persuade Louis XI that, for the
time being at least, a policy of peace with the Spanish sov-
ereigns promised better things than a continuation of war.
Ferdinand and Isabella, whose hands were more than full
with the regulation of affairs in the peninsula, were quite
ready to go halfway to meet him. On October 9, 1478,
accordingly, a treaty between the representatives of the
two nations was signed at Saint Jean de Luz, in which four
previous pacts between France and Castile were formally
renewed, and each monarch definitely renounced his al-
liances with the enemies of the other. Among the leagues
abandoned by Ferdinand and Isabella in this treaty were
specially mentioned ‘““all confederations, compacts, and
fraternities begun and completed in whatsoever way and
with whatsoever signatures, promises, expectations, oaths,
and forms of words, either generally or specifically ex-
pressed, with Maximilian, duke of Austria, and his wife,
or their eldest son.” The “confederations . . . begun and
completed” between the Catholic Kings and Maximilian
and his wife, to which these words refer, were doubtless
the outcome of a series of negotiations which had been in
progress between the two courts in 1477 and 1478. Since
Maximilian’s wife was Mary, the daughter of Charles the
Bold of Burgundy, it was but natural that Ferdinand should
seek his alliance, as the obvious way to keep alive the ancient
friendship which had previously united his father with
that most inveterate of the foes of Louis XI. The king of
England, the duke of Brittany, and the Swiss were also
involved in these negotiations, and though we lack precise
information in regard to their scope, we may be sure that
the shrewd Zurita was not mistaken in thinking that they

1 Not (as Daumet, p. 128, and C. ber 9. The text of the treaty may be
Petit-Dutaillis, in Lavisse, Histosre d¢ found in Jaoques Bernard's Recueil des
France, iv, 2, p. 394, have it) on Novem-  Traites, i, pp. 668, 684.
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were based on the fact that ‘all these powers were destined
of necessity to be perpetual enemies of the house of
France.’! What was meant by the reference to a possible
understanding with Maximilian’s “eldest son” is much
more difficult to conjecture. As the Archduke Philip was
only born on July 22, 1478, it seems scarcely possible that
any alliance for him in the family of the Spanish sovereigns
could have been contemplated as early as this, though the
hand of their eldest daughter Isabella (born October, 1470)
was, at this juncture, still free.? Still it is certainly worth
noting that the union of the Spanish realms not only was
accomplished in the face of the enmity of the king of
France, but also was apparently in a measure supported
in its earliest years by some sort of an understanding with
the house of Austria. The whole framework of the dip-
lomatic combinations of the succeeding age was fore-
shadowed with startling accuracy at this early date.
The treaty of Saint Jean de Luz wisely left the thorny
question of Cerdagne and Roussillon untouched, and John
of Aragon was included in the general peace. On January
20, 1479, the old king died at Barcelona, in the eighty-
third year of his age; and was succeeded by his son Fer-
dinand in all his dominions save Navarre, which by the
terms of the treaty of Olite passed to his daughter Eleanor,
the wife of Gaston de Foix. In some of his most cherished
projects he had met defeat; Navarre had escaped him at
the last; at the moment of his death Cerdagne and Rous-
gillon were in the hands of Louis of France; but the mar-

1 Zurita, iv, fI. 280-281; also J. brother John, who became the husband
Péres de Gusmén y Gallo, Dogmas de la  of Philip's sister Margaret, on June 30,
Politioa de Fernando V el Catlico, p. 31. 1478. 1Is it possible that the negotia-

2 Joanna, the second daughter and tions of 1477-78 had ocontemplated
third child of Ferdinand and Isabells, marriages between children of the two
who ultimately married Philip, was dynasties as yet unborn?
born November 6, 1479; her older
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riage of Ferdinand and Isabella, for which he was primarily
responsible, was a triumph beside which his failures shrink
into insignificance. The unification of Spain, with all its
tremendous consequences, is the contribution of John of
Aragon to the history of Europe.

No more fitting celebration of the union of the Spanish
kingdoms could have been imagined than that they should
jointly proceed to the completion of the great work of the
Reconquest, and round out their dominions by the final
expulsion of the Moors from the peninsula.

Since the battle on the Salado in the reign of Alfonso XI,
the Christians had scored but three important victories
against the forces of the kings of Granada. A great battle
had been won by the armies of John II at Sierra Elvira,
close to Granada, in 1431 ;! in 1410 and in 1462 the town of
Antequera and the Rock of Gibraltar had been captured.?
During the latter part of the reign of Henry IV and the
first five years of that of Ferdinand and Isabella the in-
ternal troubles of the realm effectually prevented any re-
newal of attacks against the Moorish strongholds. When
in 1476 the queen sent to demand payment of the annual
tribute due from the king of Granada, the latter evinced his
contempt of his Christian overlords by the famous answer,
that the mints of his realm “coined no longer gold, but
steel.” # Their Catholic Majesties were still too busy with

1 Bomeﬁme- called the battle of

: Crénica de Juan 11, afio de

1431, ocaps. xix-xxi (B. A. E., lxviii,
pp. 497-500).

2 See Vol. I, pp. 180f. The taking of
Gibraltar did not at first promise much
advantage to the nation as a whole,
for it had been acoomplished chiefly
through the efforts of the heads of the
rival houses of Gusman and Ponce de
Leon, whose quarrels were such a pro-

lific source of anarchy during the reign
of Henry IV. Moreover the Gusmans,
whose ancestor had effected the first
capture of the fortress from the infidel
in 1809, regarded the Rock as an ap-
panage of their family and could not be
induced permanently to surrender it to
the Castilian crown till 1502. I.Lépesde
Ayala, Historia de Gidraltar, pp. 176-210;
also Palencia, Crénica, i, pp. 366-370.
3 Preacott, i, p. 381.
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other cares to heed this insolent reply, and their failure
promptly to chastise their haughty vassal encouraged
him in 1481 to surprise the Christian fortress of Zahara on
the confines of the province of Cadiz. But by this time
the Christians were in better condition to retaliate. The
War of Succession with Portugal had been triumphantly
terminated. John of Aragon was dead, and Ferdinand was
in full possession of his hereditary domains. A report that
the important fortress of Alhama, on a rocky peak in the
vega just southwest of Granada, was inadequately garri-
soned and negligently guarded, led to the despatch of Ro-
drigo Ponce de Leon, the fiery Marquis of Cadiz,! in Feb-
ruary, 1482, on a desperate attempt to seize it unawares.
The expedition, which demanded quite as much proficiency
in rock climbing as in fighting, was extremely hazardous
but completely successful; and the subsequent efforts of
the Moors to retake the place were beaten off. From that
moment the campaign against Granada ceased to be a mere
series of forays, and assumed the character of a regular,
methodically conducted war. The sovereigns took it up
vigorously, with the idea of ending once and for all the
Moorish hold on the peninsula. The Emir, reading the
gigns of the times, solicited aid from the Merinites across
the Strait, but Isabella checkmated this move by sending
a Castilian fleet to cruise in the adjacent waters, and to
cut off all communication with the African coast.?

And now, just at the moment when the Moors of Gra-
nada needed all their forces to withstand the Christian at-
tack, they were seriously weakened at home by dynastic

10n the career of this man see J. ences there to Bernfldes, Pulgar, and
Durdn y Lerchundi, La Toma de Gra- other contemporary writers; W.
nada y Caballeros que concurrieron d ella,  Conguest of Granada (New York, 1852),
i, pp. 141-206. . chaps. iv-vili; Merdier, ii, p. 410.

2 Prescott, i, pp. 381401, and refer-
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quarrels of the typical Mohammedan sort. Jealousies in
the harem of the Emir, Abul Hassan, were the source of it ;
the famous massacre of the Cordovan family of the Aben-
cerrages in the Alhambra and the imprisonment of the queen
and her son, Boabdil, were its first results. But the cap-
tives contrived to escape from their confinement and to
enlist the sympathies of the Granadinos; after a series of
bloody feuds the old Emir was expelled, and forced to seek
refuge at the court of his brother in Malaga.! The latter’s
energy and bravery had won him the title of El Zagal or
‘the Valiant,’ and his prestige reached its climax in the spring
of 1483 by his brilliant victory over an expedition which
the indefatigable Marquis of Cadiz had led into the neigh-
boring territories.? But the ultimate result ‘of the triumph
of El Zagal was distinctly unfavorable to the Moorish cause.
It inspired his nephew, Boabdil, to attempt to emulate his
exploits; but El Rey Chico, as the Spaniards called him,
was proverbially unlucky in everything that he under-
took, and instead of eclipsing his uncle’s victory, as he had
hoped, he was speedily defeated and captured by the Cas-
tilian Count of Cabra.? A vigorous debate ensued among
the Christian leaders as to the most profitable way to make
use of the prize which fortune had placed in their hands;
but the final verdict was that Boabdil should be released
and sent back to his own dominions, on terms which bound
him hand and foot to the cause of Ferdinand and Isabells,
and which consequently insured the vigorous continuance
of the internal quarrels in Granada.* Boabdil did not re-
fuse these degrading conditions. He sneaked back into his

Irving, chapters iii, ix; Mercier, ii, 'Pmoott.i.pp 419430, and refer-
pp. 410! L. de Eguflas y Yénguas, ences there
Mﬂmdclacwdc 'Duri.n Lerchundi, i, pp. 343-379.
Granada - segdn los Cromistas Arabes, ‘Pmoott.i.pp 433-489, and refer-
pp. 1-18. enoces there.
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capital,! where El Zagal had meantime succeeded in es-
tablishing himself; though he failed to gain admittance to
the Alhambra and the upper town, he soon gathered his ad-
herents on the banks of the Darro and the Xenil, and
waged a murderous war upon his rivals. In the midst of
the confusion, the old king, Abul Hassan, disappeared, not
improbably a victim of foul play.?

While revolt and sedition were thus rife in the Moorish
camp, the Christian army presented a spectacle of en-
thusiastic unity and devotion such as Spain had seldom, if
ever, witnessed before. A number of different causes con-
tributed to this happy result. In the first place every ef-
fort was used to make men feel that it was a national Span-
ish enterprise — the first of its kind — made possible by
the marriage of Ferdinand and Isabella, and not an affair
of merely local import. As the kingdom of Granada no-
where touched the realms of the Crown of Aragon, Castile
alone could hope to benefit territorially by its reconquest;
nevertheless Ferdinand was fully as active in the prosecu-
tion of the war as was the queen, whose services, though
undoubtedly extraordinary, have probably been somewhat
exaggerated in the gallant phrases of the contemporary
chroniclers. And as the best possible method of stimulat-
ing the spirit of unity so essential to success, the sovereigns
did their utmost .to instil into their troops the conviction
that the war was rather religious than political in its aims.
They strove their hardest to awaken the old crusading
ardor, which had been dormant for long periods in the past,

1 Not, however, in 1483, as the older Granada,” in R. A. for 1909 and 1910,
historians have it: his captivity lasted 3d ser., xxi, pp. 330-3389; xxii, pp. 260~
till 1485 or poesibly 1486: of. M. G. 269, 421-431; xxiii, pp. 137-148, 411-
Remiro, Ultimos Pactos entrs los Reyes 423; Eguflas y Yénguas, op. ail., pp.
Catdlicos y Boabdil (Granada, 1910), p. 18-22.

7, and five articles by the same author * Prescott, i, p. 461; Mercier, ii, p.
on * Documentos Arabes do la Corte de  411.
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but which, when thoroughly roused, had shown itself ca-
pable of working wonders, as in the campaigns of Las Navas
and the Salado. During the year 1486, in the very midst
of the struggle, the king and queen made a solemn pil-
grimage to the shrine of Santiago de Compostela.! A
huge silver cross, the gift of Pope Sixtus IV, was carried in
Ferdinand’s tent throughout the campaign ; it was invari-
ably raised by the royal standard bearer on the topmost
pinnacle of each conquered town and adored with impres-
sive ceremonies by the assembled hosts.? Finally, the con-
stant presence of Ferdinand and Isabella in the midst of
their advancing armies was a tremendous asset for the
cause. It was the surest possible way of keeping the
factious nobles from deserting, of maintaining order and
discipline in the ranks, of convincing the soldiers that there
was no duty they were called upon to perform in which
their sovereigns were too proud to bear a part.® And the
enthusiasm which the enterprise kindled in Spain extended
before long to other lands as well. Volunteers and adven-
turers, many of them of noble birth, flocked to the Christian
standards from Germany, France, and England, longing to
have a share in the glorious triumph which all felt certain
was soon to be won. Prominent among them was a brother-
in-law of the Yorkist king Edward IV, by name Sir Ed-
ward Woodville, who was apparently not ashamed, as a
means of impressing the Spaniards with a sense of his dig-
nity and importance, temporarily to appropriate the title of
Lord Scales.* These foreigners brought back to their

1 Galindes Carbajal, Anales Breves, ocareer of Woodville by the present

afio 1486 (D. I. E., xviii, p. 272). writer in the Proceedings of the American
2 Prescott, i, p. 459. Antiguarian Sociely for October, 1904.
3 Machiavelli, Il Principe, cap. xxi; The title of Lord Scales really belonged
Lea, i, p. 21. to Woodville's elder brother Anthony, in

¢ Martyr, Opus¥Epistolarum, lib. i, rvight of his wife, Elisabeth, daughter and
ep. Ixii. There is a brief study of the heiress of Thomas, seventh Baron Scales.
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native lands glowing tales of the power of Ferdinand and
Isabella; indeed, the reputation which the sovereigns won
in Europe through the Granadan war was no small element
in accounting for the extraordinarily rapid rise of Spanish
prestige in the immediately succeeding years. On the other
hand, the Spaniards learned much from their visitors, at
the same time that they contrived to impress them. Par-
ticularly was this true of a body of Swiss mercenaries who
joined the royal standard, and doubtless furnished Gonsalvo
de Cordova and Gonzalo de Ayora with many of the ideas
which subsequently enabled them to produce the terrible
Spanish infantry of the Italian wars.!

Two or three outstanding features of the military side
of the campaign deserve passing notice; for the Granadan
war really forms the introduction to the period of the most
brilliant development of the Spanish arms. The forces
assembled were apparently very large — according to one
doubtless exaggerated contemporary estimate, the grand
total reached 80,000 * —but the method of their recruit-
ment remained predominantly feudal? The sovereigns
saw the difficulty and set themselves to remedy it. Some
progress was made toward the formation of a national force

" by utilizing the troops of the hermandad, which had recently
been re-created as a royal institution. The above men-
tioned Swiss mercenaries were also valuable as a nucleus
for an army of the modern sort. The mediaeval methods,
however, were much too firmly planted to be eradicated
at once, and the sovereigns were obliged to wait until after
the conclusion of the war for the full completion of their
plans of army reorganization. On the other hand, a num-
ber of important changes in the methods of fighting were

1 Clemencin, in Memorias de la de las Armas Espafiolas, ii, cap. v.

R. A. H., vi, pp. 186-191; Presoott, i, 2 Cited in Preeoott, i, p. 447.
pp. 451 {.; Clonard, Historia Orgdnica $ Mariéjol, pp. 195-199.
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effected before Granada fell. The exceedingly rocky and
mountainous character of the greater part of the territory
in which the Moorish capital lay rendered it most unfavor-
able for cavalry. The struggle was bound to be primarily
a war of sieges, in which infantry and still more artillery
would have to play the principal part. Consequently we
find the Christians making strenuous efforts to increase
the number and efficiency of their cannon. Engineers and
mechanics were summoned from within and without the
realm. Numerous pieces of extraordinary weight and still
more extraordinary clumsiness were constructed. It was
apparently impossible to alter the direction of their aim,
either vertically or horizontally, without moving the gun
carriages to which they were firmly attached; and infinite
labor was necessary to prepare roads for them through
" the mountain passes. They fired huge balls of stone and
iron; the latter were sometimes heated almost to the molten
stage, thus producing the effect of a sort of liquid fire.
Yet despite their extreme unwieldiness, these rudimentary
cannon accomplished their ends. Fortress after fortress
which would have defied assault, was battered down by their
projectiles.! Systematic forays meantime devastated the
adjacent vegas, while the Castilian fleet continued to patrol
the Mediterranean; and the success of these methods of
starvation may be judged by the fact that the Moors soon
began to offer to liberate Christian prisoners in return for
supplies, until such exchanges were sternly forbidden by Fer-
dinand and Isabella.? Generous terms were usually granted
to the inhabitants of conquered towns, but any subsequent
infraction of them by either party was sure to be speedily
punished —in case of the Christians by vigorous pen-

t Clemencin, in Memoriasdela R. A. 442-444; Mariéjol, pp. 204-209.
H., vi, pp. 167-176; Prescott, i, pp. 2 Prescott, i, pp. 440-442.
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alties, in case of the Moors by sanguinary executions and
destruction.! The solicitude of the queen for the physical
welfare of her troops forms one of the pleasantest chapters
of the whole story. She was busily engaged in forwarding
provisions from the great base at Cordova. She did her
utmost to find surgeons and medical supplies. She even
established and equipped at her own expense a large number
of special tents for the care of the wounded. It is the
earliest recorded case of anything resembling a modern
field hospital.?

The year 1484 was marked by no important event, but
in 1485-86 the Christian lines were drawn considerably
tighter around the Moorish capital. The western outpost
of Ronda, perched on the summit of a precipitous cliff, suc-
cumbed to the artillery of the Marquis of Cadiz. Wedges
were driven into the heart of the infidel realm by the capture
of Loja and Illora, and the fall of Marbella on the Mediter-
ranean coast afforded an invaluable base of operations for
the blockading Castilian fleet.® In 1487 everything was
concentrated on the siege of Malaga, the largest of the
outward defences of the kingdom of Granada, and, with
the exception of Almeria, its only remaining seaport of
importance. An indispensable preliminary was the capture
of Velez, situated on the road from Malaga to Granada ; and
in April Ferdinand crossed the Sierras with a large army
and finally sat down before its walls. El Zagal sallied forth
from Granada in a desperate effort to relieve it, but was
unsuccessful ; moreover his treacherous nephew seized the
opportunity to make himself supreme within the capital,
which shut its gates on El Zagal when he attempted to re-
turn thither after his failure, and finally obliged him to seek

1 Prescott, i, pp. 445 {. 3 Irving, caps. xl, xli; Prescott, i, pp.

t Clonard, ii, p. 86; Clemencin, pp. 462 f.
177 1.
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refuge in the eastern cities of Guadix, Baza, and Almeria,
the only portions of the realm which remained loyal to him.!
~ Meantime Velez surrendered, and the blockade of Malaga

began. It was a long and arduous undertaking. The
garrison was largely composed of African troops, who had
more stomach for fighting than the Spanish Moors; the
fortifications were very strong, and high hopes were enter-
tained of relief from the Barbary coast. But the vigilance
of the Castilian fleet prevented that, while the wretched
Boabdil attacked and cut to pieces a rescuing party de-
spatched by his uncle, El Zagal ; on the other hand the ar-
rival of Queen Isabella in the camp of the besiegers redoubled
their enthusiasm, and imbued them with a chivalrous re-
solve to do or die for the cause.? Sudden assaults by the
Christians and sorties by their foes varied the monotony
of the blockade; but the crucial event of the entire siege
was the effort of a Moorish fanatic, who had gained access
to the royal tent on the plea that he was inspired with the
gift of prophecy, to assassinate the king and queen. Hap-
pily the attempt failed, but the news that the lives of their
sovereigns had been imperilled served to rouse the loyalty
and ardor of the Christians to the highest pitch.® Every-
thing was got ready for a grand assault, which, however,
was delayed for a brief period owing to Isabella’s desire
to save bloodshed ; meantime the spectacle of the besiegers’
preparations, coupled with the terrible dearth of provisions
within the town, convinced the defenders that there was
no alternative to an acknowledgment of defeat. After a
fruitless effort to extort lenient conditions from Ferdinand
by a threat of massacring the five or six hundred Christian
captives in the dungeons of Malaga, the inhabitants sur-
rendered at discretion. Whether owing to the fact that the

! Prescott, ii, pp. 11-14. $ Presoott, ii, pp. 14-21. $ Presoott, ii, pp. 23-25,
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garrison was largely composed of African troops, or to some
other cause, does not appear; but it is certain that the
terms which Ferdinand imposed on the conquered town
form a most disagreeable contrast to those granted to the
places which he had captured before. The whole popula-
tion was virtually condemned to slavery. One third was
transported to North Africa to be exchanged for Christian
captives there detained; another was appropriated by the
state as payment for the expenses of the campaign ; the rest
were distributed among the nobles, the Pope, and the sover-
eigns of friendly lands. One hundred warriors were incor-
porated into the papal guard and converted, before the year
was out, into “very good Christians’; fifty beautiful
damsels were presented to the queen of Naples, and thirty
to the queen of Portugal. Such was the perhaps not en-
tirely unmerited revenge for the hosts of Christian maidens,
seized in Spain during the previous seven centuries and
despatched across the dreary wastes of Northern Africa
to supply the harems of the Orient.! ,
The fall of Malaga rendered that of Granada ultimately
"inevitable. But Ferdinand and Isabella were resolved to
take no chances, and in order to make assurance doubly
sure, directed all their energies during the years 1488 and
1489 to the reduction of that eastern extremity of the
Moorish territories which acknowledged the sway of El
Zagal. In 1488 Ferdinand advanced along the coast to
attack Almeria, only to be beaten off with heavy loss by
his crafty opponent. In 1489 the Christians centred their
efforts on the siege of Baza with better success. The town
finally surrendered, after prolonged resistance, at the very
end of the year. As Boabdil did nothing to help his uncle,
the latter recognized the necessity of admitting defeat.
1 Presoott, ii, pp. 256-39; Mercier, ii, p. 412.



72 THE CONQUEST OF GRANADA

Negotiations and a personal interview with Ferdinand
followed, and finally ended in an arrangement by which
the Moorish king surrendered to the Christians all the prin-
cipal fortresses of the realm, including Guadix and Almeria,
and received in return the sovereignty of the small district
southwest of Malaga, to be held by him as a vassal of the
king of Castile. But El Zagal was much too proud to be
permanently satisfied with so shadowy a vestige of royalty.
He soon disposed of his new dominions to the king and queen
of Castile in return for a money indemnity, and passed over
to Africa, where, stripped of everything by the savage Ber-
bers, he ended his days in misery and solitude.! He was
by far the ablest figure on the Moorish side of this last great
contest of Cross and Crescent in the peninsula, and assuredly
deserved a better fate.

Meantime the unhappy Boabdil, whose treachery was
only equalled by his ineptitude, seized the moment of his
uncle’s defeat to renounce the obligations to the king and
queen of Castile which he had contracted at the time of
his capture, and hurled defiance at Ferdinand and Isabella.
In the spring of 1490 the Christian armies camped on the
broad vega beneath Granada.? The troops were in splendid
condition; everything combined to make them certain
of victory, and yet they did not underestimate the diffi-
culties of the crowning task. With a full realization that
time was indispensable to success, and a permanent fortified
base on the vega the best guarantee for the maintenance of
a rigid blockade, they constructed, during the winter of
1490-91, a new town in the wide plain, six miles to the west
of Granada, and significantly named it Santa Fé. It was
laid out in the form of a Roman camp, with regular streets
crossing each other at right angles — “the only city in

1 Prescott, ii, pp. 44-66; Mercier.ii, p. 412.  * Remiro, Ultimos Pactos, p. 15.
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Spain that has never been contaminated by the Moslem
heresy’’ ; it was destined to be the scene of the capitulation
of Granada, and of the signing of the contract with Colum-
bus which led to the discovery of a New World! The
sight of such a formidable establishment was profoundly
discouraging to the beleaguered Moors. It proved to them
that their foes would never cease from their efforts until
their object had been triumphantly accomplished; and
in October, 1491, negotiations for the surrender of Granada
were begun, Hernando de Zafra, the royal secretary, and
Gonsalvo de Cordova being entrusted with the conduect
of them on the Christian side.? After long conferences the
terms were finally settled on the twenty-fifth of the follow-
ing November ; they were exceedingly liberal — the sharpest
possible contrast to the vengeance that had been visited
upon Malaga. The city was to be surrendered within sixty
days, and the artillery and fortifications given up. The
Moors, however, were to be permitted to retain unmolested
their customs, dress, property, laws, and religion; they
were to continue to be ruled by their own local magistrates,
under the supervision of a governor appointed by the Cas-
tilian crown. They were carefully guarded against extor-
tionate taxes, and they were to be furnished transportation
to North Africa in case they desired to emigrate. The con-
ditions, indeed, were in general such as did high honor to
the magnanimity and generosity of the victors, and rendered
the subsequent violation of them the more shameful.?
The actual surrender took place with impressive ceremonies
on January 2, 1492. Pradilla’s great painting ¢ accurately

1 Prescott, ii, pp. 82 f.; Balaguer, ii, see Remiro, Ultimos Pacios, pp.27 f£.
pp. 349 f. 3 Text in D. I. E., viii, pp. 411-436;
2 Pulgar, Breve Parte de las hasafias  Prescott, ii, pp. 84-86; Lea, Mortscos
del Gran Capitdn,in N.B.A.E.,x,p.877. of Spain, pp. 20 {.
On the details of these negotiations, 4 Now in the Senado at Madrid.
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depicts the scene as the contemporary chroniclers have
described it — the stately courtesy of Ferdinand and
Isabella, the timorous hesitancy of the vanquished Boabdil.

“ Here passed away the Koran; there in the Cross was borne;

And here was heard the Christian bell; and there the Moorish horn.” t

It was indeed a glorious victory, won at a critical moment,
and stained by few acts of treachery and cruelty. It had
evoked all that was best in the character of the Spaniard.
It showed that under the inspiration of a Holy War, hallowed
by nearly eight centuries of national tradition, he could
rise superior to petty local aims and ambitions, and was
capable of really great things. It served, as perhaps nothing
else could have done, to win enthusiastic support for the
throne of Ferdinand and Isabella, by identifying their rule
at the very outset with the advancement of the Faith, and
with the successful completion of the national task. But
there is grave danger in regarding the conquest of Granada
merely as marking the end of an epoch. In many ways it
was not so much an end as a beginning. We have already
observed that no sharp dividing line can be drawn between
reconquest and conquest; the two merge into one another
and form a continuous whole. Attempts had been made
to secure a footing in North Africa for centuries before
Granada fell; and a year after its surrender Ferdinand and
Isabella despatched a certain Lorenzo de Padilla, governor
of Alcal4, in disguise to the Barbary coast, to gather in-
formation which should be valuable to them in the event
of their carrying their arms across the Strait.? Clearly
the Catholic Kings had already made up their minds to
pursue the Crescent beyond the borders of Spain. More-

1 Lockhart's Spanish Ballads. sibly the father) of the chronicler, who

? Lorenso de Padilla, Crénica de was born about 1485. Cf. also C. X.
Pelipe I, cap. v, in D. I. E., viii, p. 16: de Sandoval in Revue Africaine, quin-
clearly the envoy was a relative (pos- sidme année (1871), p. 177.
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over, it so happened that in the midst of all these exciting -
events a very persistent Italian mariner, whom many men
thought to be half mad, but whom the sovereigns believed
in and supported, came back from a long voyage of discovery
into the West, with marvellous tales of new lands to con-
quer beyond the seas. Everything combined to beckon
the new monarchs forward and onward at this crucial stage
in their career. Certainly it was no time for them to rest
on their laurels.

But internal reforms of the most drastic and far reaching
sort were the indispensable preliminary to foreign conquest.
They had indeed been largely accomplished during the
period of the Granadan war, and we must study them care-
fully before turning to the story of Spain’s new career of
expansion beyond the seas.
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CHAPTER XIV

ABSOLUTISM VERSUS SEPARATISM. UNITY OF FAITH
AND RACE

STRIKING similarities have often been noted in the
internal development of the three great states of Western
Burope during the fifteenth century. In each a period of
unparalleled anarchy and confusion was followed by the
erection of a strong central monarchical government, ca-
pable alike of defying the factions at home and of taking
the lead in campaigns of aggression and conquest abroad.
To the terrible strife of the Armagnacs and Burgundians in
France, correspond the Wars of the Roses in England, and
the wretched disorders which characterized the reigns of
John IT and Henry the Impotent of Castile. The efficient
royal despotism which emerged in France under Charles VII
and Louis XI has its English counterpart in the reign of the
first king of the house of Tudor, and its Spanish in the rule
of Ferdinand and Isabella. Of the three states, France was
on the whole the first in point of time to achieve national
consolidation ; the Spanish realms came second, and England
third. How far the last two profited from the experience
of the first; how much actual institutional borrowing oc-
curred between them, is a vastly interesting subject, about
which much has been surmised, though little definitely
proven; but we cannot enter into it here.! All that it is

1 Useful suggestions on this topic bridge, 1901), passsm; W. Busch, Eng-
may be gleaned from F. W, Maitland, land under the Tudors, tr. Todd (Lon-
English Law and the Renaissance (Cam-  don, 1895), pp. 266-274, especially pp.
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important for us to remember in the present connection is
that the great work of national unification which the Catholic
Kings performed was thoroughly in harmony with the
highest aims and aspirations of the most enlightened states-
men of their day and generation in other European lands.
Royal despotism was the form of government best suited to
the stage of development which had been attained in the
fifteenth century. It offered the sole sure means of escape
from the intolerable evils of baronial anarchy. Order had
to be reéstablished before constitutional liberties could be
observed.

The foregoing paragraph will have made clear that many
of the problems with which Ferdinand and Isabella were
confronted, when at last they were able to call their thrones
their own, were almost precisely identical with those which
had already been dealt with by the kings of France, and
were subsequently to be attacked by the kings of England.
Such, for example, were the domination of the rebel baron-
age, the redstablishment of the royal finances, and the re-
organization of the administration of justice; and in the
solution of each of these problems we shall encounter many
resemblances between the methods of the Catholic Kings
and those of their French and English contemporaries. But
there were at least two special questions with which Ferdi-
nand and Isabella were obliged to deal, which were emphat-
ically cosas de Espafia — peculiar to the Iberian Peninsula
and absolutely without parallel north of the Pyrenees; in
answering these two special questions the Spanish kings had

272 and 274, notes; J. A. Brutails, ed.,
Documents des Archives de la Chambre
des Comptes de Navarre (Paris, 1890),
passim; and H. Pirenne, * The Forma-
tion and Constitution of the Burgun-
dian State,” in American Historical Re-
vew, xiv (1909), pp. 477-6502. A study,

previously noted, by R. Altamira, called
‘“Magna Carta and Spanish Mediaeval
Jurisprudence,” in Magna Carta Com~
memoration Essays, ed. H. E. Malden
(1917), pp. 227-243, deals with the
legal mide of the same subject in an

earlier period.
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no foreign precedents to guide them. Both were of such
fundamental importance for the future of the Iberian realms
and of the Spanish Empire that no apology is needed for a
thorough consideration of them at the outset. The first
arose out of the fact that Christian Spain contained at least
four separate states — Castile, Aragon, Catalonia, and
Valencia — each with an independent set of institutions,
which it would be difficult, if not impossible, to weld into a
single homogeneous whole, even though the dynasties that
ruled over them had been united by a fortunate marriage.
The second was the direct result of the large measure of
racial and religious toleration which had pervaded the
Iberian realms during the greater part of the Middle Ages,
and which had revealed itself again in the very liberal terms
of the capitulation of Granada in 1491 —namely, the
existence of numerous and important Jewish and Moorish
communities within the realm, whose presence was a most
emphatic negation of the fundamental principle of unity on
which the rule of the Catholic Kings was to be built up.
One of the surest proofs of real statesmanship is the abil-
ity to distinguish what is possible to accomplish from what is
not. A completely united Spain, ruled under a single set
of institutions and a single crown, would doubtless have
been more in consonance with the ideas of political centrali-
zation prevalent at the time, than the maintenance of the
system of separate and autonomous kingdoms which had
been inherited from the Middle Ages. But with all their
enthusiasm for strong central government, it is by no means
certain that Ferdinand and Isabella really desired to see the
process of unification proceed as far as this. They them-
selves inherited the separatistic traditions of their race, and
despite the fact that the current was flowing strongly in the
opposite direction, they were not improbably anxious, in
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some degree at least, to maintain them. In any case, what-
ever their personal desires and predilections may have been,
they must have realized from the very first that any complete
fusion of Castile and the realms of the Crown of Aragon
was, for the time being, outside the sphere of practical
politics. The largely fortuitous union of the thrones through
their marriage was no indication that the institutions of their
respective realms could be made to follow suit. Dualism,
in fact, was inevitable from the very first. The only ques-
tion was how to work out the details.

The principal source of information in regard to these is
the marriage treaty, which was drawn up and signed by the
high contracting parties in January, 1469, nine months be-
fore the celebration of their wedding.! It is principally
made up of a series of limitations imposed upon the author-
ity of Ferdinand in Castile; there was no need under the
circumstances to emphasize the corresponding restrictions
of the rights of Isabella in the realms of the Crown of Ara-~
gon. Ferdinand promised to respect all the laws and cus-
toms of the western kingdom, both local and national; all
the separate institutions of the different realms whose
crowns were to be united were thus maintained in their
pristine vigor. All appointments in Castile, whether polit-
ical, ecclesiastical, or military, were to be made in accordance
with the queen’s desires, and her consent was necessary for
the preferment of any foreigner within the realm. No portion
of the domain of the Crown of Castile was to be alienated
unless Isabella gave her permission; no grant or favor was
to be bestowed there save by her. In deference to the
greater size and importance of the western kingdon, Ferdi-
nand promised to fix his residence there, and not to depart

1 Printed in Clemencin, pp. 579-583; 192; and elsewhere. Cf. also Zurita,
Balaguer, Reyes Catélicos, i, pp. 187- iv, fl. 162-164.
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thence without the queen’s consent. He also pledged
himself to the prosecution of the national Castilian task,
the reconquest of the entire peninsula from the Moors. As
a final evidence of his acquiescence in these arrangements,
and also, perhaps, of the completeness of the understanding
between the royal pair in other matters as well, it was
stipulated that all laws, ordinances, treaties, and other
documents of a public character should bear the signatures
of both.

Whether Ferdinand had ever intended loyally to abide
by these arrangements may well be doubted. There is
strong reason to believe that from the very beginning he had
cherished hopes of quietly setting aside the terms of the
marriage treaty, and of demanding independent authority
for himself in the western kingdom. Certainly the words
in which the herald proclaimed the accession of the new
sovereigns in Segovia after the death of Henry IV in 1474
were highly displeasing to him : “Castile, Castile,”” sounded
the cry, “for King Don Ferdinand and his consort, Dofia
Isabella, Queen Proprietress of these realms.”! With the
idea of making one last effort to assert himself, Ferdinand
now came forward with the claim that as great-grandson
of John I of Castile he was in his own right lawful sovereign
of that kingdom, and that females were excluded from the
succession ; but the law of the land was clearly against him
here, and his attempt to override the provisions of the
marriage treaty simply led to a reconfirmation of them.?

1 Galindes Carbajal, in D. I. E., rights were fully recognised in Castile,
xviii, p. 256; Lucius Marineus Siculus, a dangerous precedent would be created

De Rebus Hispaniae Memorabilidbus, in
Bchott, i, p. 470.

31t is said that Ferdinand was so
inocensed at the failure of his efforts,
that he threatened to retire to Aragon.
The queen, however, managed to dis-
suade him at the last moment by point-
ing out that unless her own independent

for carrying the sovereignty of Spain
out of the peninsula, in case the Infanta
Isabella — the only child who up to
that time had been born to the royal
pair — should marry a foreign prince.
Lucius Marineus Siculus, in Schott, i,
Pp. 471 {.; Mariéjol, pp. 122-124.
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All the terms of the previous instrument were reiterated,
though perhaps in some instances less specifically than be-
fore; there were also added several new stipulations tending
to emphasize the concurrence of both parties in the arrange-
ments that had been made. Of these the most important
were that justice should be administered jointly by both
monarchs when they were residing in the same place, and by
each one separately when they were apart; that the heads
of both were to appear upon all coins; and that the united
arms of Castile and Aragon (the former being given prece-
dence) were to be borne on a common seal and carried on a
common standard.! The famous Tanio Monta (“One is as
good as the other’”’) which the monarchs adopted as their
motto, is another evidence to the same effect.? But despite
all these efforts to accentuate the indivisibility of the inter-
ests of the two sovereigns, the fundamental principle of the
agreement of 1474-75, as in that of 1469, was the complete
independence and autonomy of the realms whose crowns had
been united. Save for the foreign policy, in which hence-
forth all the Spanish kingdoms would naturally move as
one;?® save for the Inquisition, which was to be established
in 1481 with a single organization for Castile and the realms
of the Crown of Aragon; and save for the abolition in 1480
of the prohibition of the exportation and importation of cer-
tain commodities from one kingdom to another (the customs
duties, however, being maintained),* the union of the crowns
made no difference in principle in the government of the
states of Christian Spain. Though the fundamental objec:.

1 Pulgar, Crénica, pt. ii, cap.”ii (B. 3In theory at least; though there
A. E., Ixx, pp. 280 1.); Zurita, iv, f. naturally continued to be wide diver-
223-224. genoes of interest on this topic between

3 The full sentence was - mmdmnm.uthomud
‘Tanto monta, monta tanto _
Isabel como Fernando.” 4 Cortes, iv, pp. 185 f. (Toledo, 1480,

orden. 111) ; Colmeiro, Introd., ii, p. 61;
Balaguer, i, p. 240. Altamira, § 594.
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of the administration of the Catholic Kings had been to
secure internal unity, the particularistic traditions of their
native land forced them to restrict their efforts to the attain-
ment of that end within each of the separate realms which
composed their dominions; fusion or amalgamation into
a single state was at present out of the question. The ab-
solutism which their government produced was therefore an
absolutism of an essentially decentralized nature; and the
special problems and difficulties with which the builders
of the Spanish Empire were subsequently confronted can
never be adequately appreciated unless this fundamental
characteristic is constantly borne in mind. '
On the other hand, it is important to remember that the
measure of decentralization and separatism which was
insured by the régime above described was in practice con-
siderably less than might at first sight appear. The princi-
pal reason for this was, of course, the fact that Castile
comprised by far the larger part of the Iberian Peninsula ;
that she was greatly preponderant, from almost every point
of view, over the three realms of the Crown of Aragon put
together. It was not as if the crowns of four kingdoms of
approximately the same size had been united, with the
separate laws and institutions of each maintained in full
force ; it was rather a most unequal partnership, in which the
western realm by the natural course of events was inevitably
bound to assume by far the most important réle. We have
already seen that during the Middle Ages the kings of Castile
were sometimes loosely spoken of as kings of Spain, thus in-
dicating how completely the western realm overshadowed
the eastern ones in the eyes of the world at large ; and during
the reign of Ferdinand and Isabella its preponderance be-
came more marked than before. Castile alone had reaped
the fruits of the conquest of Granada. The discovery of
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America, of which it was practically the sole beneficiary, still
further increased its power and resources, and transferred
the centre of the Spanish Empire from Barcelona to Seville.
The court resided in Castile the greater part of the time,
and before long it became necessary to appoint viceroys to
represent the authority of the crown in each of the Aragonese
kingdoms. Naturally this increased preponderance of the
western realm was bound to have its effect upon the constitu-
tional arrangements of the time. From the very first the
Catholic Kings centred their reforming energies on Castile.
This was partly, no doubt, because it was in much worse
case than the eastern kingdoms, and because the royal ab-
solutism which it was the sovereigns’ chief aim to set up
would there be opposed by selfish barons with whom no
true patriot could sympathize, rather than, as in Aragon, by
a set of democratic institutions firmly grounded in national
tradition and good will. But a much more important reason
why Ferdinand and Isabella devoted their chief attention to
the western kingdom was because they realized that if they
gained their ends in Castile, their victory would be far
more significant than if they won it in the realms of the
Crown of Aragon. With Castile pacified and under control,
they could well afford to ignore the probably more difficult
and certainly less profitable task afforded by Aragon, Cata-
lonia, and Valencia. They could make the former the real
centre of their dominions, and permit the various institu-
tions by which the latter attempted to limit the royal pre-
rogative, and of which Spanish separatism refused to permit
the abolition, gradually to wither and decay for lack of
material to work upon. Queen Isabella is said to have once
remarked to her husband, ‘“Aragon is not ours, we must go
and conquer it anew’’ ;! but the words, if they were ever

1 Altamira, § 578.
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actually spoken, cannot be taken to indicate any settled in-
tention on the part of the Catholic Kings to make over the
institutions of the eastern realms with anything like the
same thoroughness with which they reformed the institu-
tions of Castile. In our examination of the various con-
stitutional changes which added lustre to their reign, we shall
therefore be occupied almost exclusively with the western
kingdom ; occasionally the eastern realms are the scene of
some reform of sufficient importance to deserve special
mention, but for the most part they fall into the background.
From the time of the union of the crowns, Castile over-
shadowed the other Spanish kingdoms; and though the
latter’s separate constitutions were not wholly abrogated
until the advent of the Bourbons in the eighteenth century,
they were so completely permeated by Castilian principles
and methods that their practical importance was very slight.

We pass to the topic of racial and religious divergence.
Save for the latter part of the Visigothic period and the
great wave of clerically stimulated fanaticism which swept
through the Iberian realms in the second part of the four-
teenth century, the Spanish tradition, as we have already
seen, favored a large measure of liberality to differing creeds
and foreign peoples.! Intolerance was emphatically not an
indigenous national trait. Yet the spectacle presented by
the large number of Moors and Jews, converted and uncon-
verted, who resided in their dominions, must have been gall
and wormwood to Ferdinand and Isabella, with their ideas
of absolute unity and the levelling of all distinctions under
the throne. Particularly obnoxious were the Conversos,
or nominally Christianized Jews, who were justly believed
to be secretly loyal to the faith of their fathers. Differences

*Cf. Vol. I; pp. 87 f1., 197 1., 456.
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in race alone no one as yet would have dreamed of attempting
to obliterate, and frankly avowed and acknowledged differ-
ences in religion were not held at the time of the accession of
the Catholic Kings to call for drastic action; but that there
should be concealed disloyalty within the pale of Holy
Church was a thought that the pious Isabella, at least,
could not endure. Unity and purity of the Faith were the
cornerstone of her policy, and, in her eyes, the first essentials
to unity of the state. Open and traditional disbelievers
could perhaps be regarded as beyond the scope of Christian
inquiry, but those who had been once converted, even against
their wills, must not under any circumstance be suffered
to relapse! It was to deal with the Conversos, or false
Christians as they were sometimes called, that Ferdinand
and Isabella resolved to apply to Pope Sixtus IV for permis-
sion to introduce the Inquisition into the kingdom of Castile,
where it had never been known before.

The desired permission was promptly granted in a bull
bearing the date November 1, 1478, but it was not till more
than two years later that the institution it created really
got to work; the long interval simply shows how difficult
it was for the sovereigns to overcome the various forces
which were hostile to their new departure.? But when at
last the new tribunal began to sit, its unique and original
constitution, differing so sharply from that of the ancient
mediaeval ecclesiastical Inquisition, gave it a “peculiar and
terrible efficiency.” The essence of this was “its combina-
tion of the mysterious authority of the Church with the secu-
lar power of the crown. The old Inquisition was purely an
ecclesiastical institution. . . . In Spain, however, the In-
quisition represented not only the pope but the king; it

1 * Judaei non sunt cogendi ad idem, Gregory IV: of. Lea, Inquisition of
quam tamen si invite susceperint, co- Spatn, i, p. 41, note 3.
gondi sunt retinere.”” Decretal of Pope 2 Lea, op. cit., i, pp. 157-161.
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practically wielded the two swords — the spiritual and the
temporal — and the combination produced a tyranny, sim-
ilar in character, but far more minute and all-pervading,
to that which England suffered during the closing years
of Henry VIII as Supreme Head of the Church.”?

The foundation for this invasion by the state of a realm
hitherto exclusively reserved to the church was the initial
demand of Ferdinand and Isabella, which Sixtus IV granted
without realizing its true significance, that the appointment
and dismissal of all the officials of the new institution, from
the Inquisitor General down, should be made, or at least
controlled, by the monarchs themselves.? In common with
the other kings of their day and generation, Ferdinand and
Isabella were resolved to reduce to the lowest possible terms
all papal interference in the management of ecclesiastical
affairs within their realms. They had no intention of setting
up within their own dominions any institution whose officers
should be nominated from Rome. But the right of ap-
pointment and dismissal was by no means all. The crown
supervised the ‘instructions’ issued by the inquisitors. It
insisted that the Inquisition’s confiscations should be paid
into the royal treasury. It controlled and regulated sala-
ries. From interference with the spiritual side of the In-
quisition’s activities, Ferdinand and Isabella for the most
part abstained, but in matters temporal their authority
was complete and unchallenged. What doubtless com-
bined to fortify and establish the measure of their royal
control was the fact that the first crucial years of the exist-~
ence of the Inquisition in Castile coincided with the period
when the most important political and constitutional re-
forms of the reign were carried into effect. Everything
was being directed towards the centralization of authority

1 Lea, op. cit., i, p. 289, ? Lea, op. cit., i, pp. 158 {., 289 1.
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in the hands of the crown at the very moment that the
new institution first saw the light; small wonder that it
yielded to the current of the times. A single example
will suffice. One of the principal methods by which Ferdi-
nand and Isabella established their royal power in political
affairs was by the increase and development of the powers
of the Consejo Real, and the creation of responsible offshoots
of it to control the different branches of the government ser-
vice. The major part of this work was accomplished by the
famous Cortes of Toledo of 1480, of which anon; by 1483
the success of the experiment had been proved beyond the
possibility of a doubt; and in that year a new council —
Consejo de la Suprema y General Inquisicién, popularly desig-
nated as the Suprema — was brought into being to secure
and maintain the royal authority over the tribunal which
had recently been called into existence.!

Any detailed examination of the growth, powers, and pro-
cedure of the new institution lies entirely beyond the scope
of the present work; moreover, it would be supererogatory,
if not positively impertinent, to attempt to traverse again
so soon the ground that was so thoroughly covered by one of
America’s most distinguished historians only a decade ago.
The Inquisition’s privileges and prerogatives gave it ‘super-
eminence’ over every other institution in the state from the
time of its establishment; and this high position was on the
whole maintained and strengthened, despite occasional set-
backs, during the two succeeding centuries. Its perma-
nent courts under the Crown of Castile (including the Cana-
ries) reached the total of twelve, while those in the realms
of the Crown of Aragon numbered four. It was extended,
as we shall later see, to Sardinia, Sicily, and the American

1Lea, op. ctl., i, pp. 280-204. For passim; Ludwig Pastor, Geschichle der

the Catholic side, cf. Gams, Kirchen- Papste (24 ed.), ii, pp. 580-586.
geschichte von Spanien, iii, 2, pp. 16-93,
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possessions ; and numerous temporary tribunals were set up in
the course of its development.! We have already remarked
that, save for the sovereigns themselves, the new institution
was the only one common to the eastern and western king-
doms; except for the period 1507-18, when, owing to the
death of Isabella and Ferdinand’s second marriage to Ger-
maine de Foix, a new separation of Aragon and Castile
seemed likely to occur, there was but a single Inquisitor
General for all Spain and all the Spanish possessions, and a
single organization which embraced them. In more ways
than one, then, the Inquisition fostered and advanced all the
projects of union and centralization on which the internal
policy of the Catholic Kings was founded; and in so far as
it accomplished this, it was certainly possible to defend it
according to the political theories of that day.

Yet the price which Spain had to pay for this advantage
—if advantage it may be called —in the fastening upon
herself, beyond all hope of escape, of a detestable spirit
of racial and religious intolerance to which she had hitherto
been for the most part a stranger, was out of all pro-
portion to what she had gained. At the period of its es-
tablishment we find countless evidences, particularly in the
eastern kingdoms, of the dread with which the Inquisition
was regarded. Its erection was the worst kind of a blow
to the aspirations for liberty which have always animated
the Spaniards, and thinking men had already perceived
that intolerance was ultimately certain to beget economic
ruin. But as time wore on, the signs of the Inquisition’s
unpopularity gradually diminished, and the Spaniards were
converted “from the most tolerant to the most intolerant na-
tion in Europe.”®* Their passion for racial and religious

1 Lea, 0p. cit., pp. 541-855. at Saragossa on September 15, 1488,

8 Ibid., i, pp. 85, 244-259. The was the turning point of the story in
murder of the inquisitor Pedro Arbués Aragon; “its immediate effect was to
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unity had been fired at precisely the moment that they had
at last attained the national consolidation for which patriots
hitherto had so ardently but fruitlessly longed. It was
thus natural that the two things should become inseparably
connected in their minds, just as it was natural that the
history of Prussia during the last two centuries should serve
to imbue the normally peaceable German with the idea
that militarism is the inseparable adjunct of imperial
greatness and power. And the growth and development
of the Inquisition was by no means the sole evidence of
this alarming increase of the spirit of racial and religious
intolerance.

The Holy Office, as we have already pointed out, had no
jurisdiction over the avowed and professed Jews, who were
generally held to be beyond the pale of Christian inquiry.!
The number of these had, of course, greatly diminished
owing to the persecutions of the fourteenth century; in
1474 there were only about twelve thousand families of them
left in Castile.? Down to the foundation of the Inquisition,
the wealth and prosperity of the Conversos had caused large
numbers of orthodox Hebrews to follow their example, and
come, nominally at least, within the bosom of the church;
but when the Holy Office was finally established and got to
work on the ‘false Christians’ the lot of the latter ceased
to be enviable and became distinctly the reverse; every-
thing now combined to cause the professed Jew to cling
more steadfastly than ever to the faith of his fathers.* There
was no longer any hope of his conversion ; if complete unity

cause a revulsion of popular feeling, 3 Ants, Vol. I, p. 201.
which hitherto had been markedly hos- 3The laws valid for the Jews of
tile to the Inquisition.” Castile during the period just previous

1 Save when a Hebrew rendered him- to their expulsion may be found in
self?**subject to it by proselytism, by se- Montalvo’s Ordenansas Reales (cf. infra,
ducing Christians to embrace hiserrors.”” p. 226), lib. viii, tit. iii.

Lea, Ingquisition of Spain, i, p. 130.
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of the faith was to be attained in Spain, expulsion was the
only possible method of securing it.!

But the policy of expulsion was so utterly at variance
with the traditions of mediaeval Spain, and the economic
consequences of it were so obviously destined to be dis-
astrous, that it was some years before Ferdinand and Isa-
bella, with all their zeal and energy, were able to put it into
practice. It appears that the queen made a move towards
getting rid of the Andalusian Hebrews in 1480, at the time
of the foundation of the Inquisition,? but nothing came of
it; twelve long years more of deliberate inculcation of racial
intolerance and stimulation of anti-Semitic prejudice were
necessary before the fatal step could be finally taken. The
conquest of Granada furnished the desired opportunity.
Some sort of recognition of God’s goodness and mercy in
delivering over the last stronghold of the infidel in the
peninsula was clearly due; and the fact that with the con-
clusion of the campaign there was no longer the same need
of the Jewish contributions which had gone far towards
supporting it * was a practical consideration which may well
have settled the matter. Despite the efforts of prominent
Hebrews to bribe their Catholic Majesties to postpone or
abandon it,* the edict of expulsion was signed at Granada
on March 30, 1492; it granted the professed Jews of all the
Spanish realms four months — until July 31 — either to
accept baptism or else to leave the land.® They were given
no fair or adequate means of disposing of their property or
of collecting the debts justly due them; the time was all
too short, and the government took no effective measures
to protect them from robbery and fraud; moreover, the

‘Loaopca i, p. 131, 4 Cf. in this connection the story of
3 Pulgar, Crénica, pt. ii, cap. Ixxvii Torquemadainl.u op. cit., i, p. 185.
(in B. A. B., Ixx, pp. 331() $ Amador de los Rios, Historia de

3Cf. D. 1. E., xxxix, pp. 418 fI. ) los Judfos, iii, pp. 387-432.
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laws forbidding the export of gold and silver made it dif-
ficult, if not impossible, for them to carry away the equiva-
lent of such possessions as they were obliged to sell. The
total number of the exiles, of the dead, and of those who sub-
mitted to baptism to escape expulsion was probably rather
less than more than 200,000;! but even if we accept Col-
meiro’s doubtless exaggerated estimate of the population
of Spain in that period as 10,000,000, we shall unquestion-
ably conclude that the loss was far greater than she could
afford. And “the sum of human misery ” inflicted, as Lea
has rightly said, “was incomputable.” ¢ Most of the exiles
passed over to the Italian lands or to the Moorish states of
North Africa, where tribulations of various kinds and degrees
awaited them. Some of them fled to Portugal, where they
were permitted to remain for a time on payment of a
heavy impost to the crown. In 1497, however, as we shall
see more fully in another connection, Ferdinand and Isa-
bella insisted, as part of the price of the marriage of their
daughter Isabella to Emmanuel the Portuguese king, that
the latter should follow their example and expel the Jews
from his dominions, which he accordingly did. Their most

1 Lea, Inquisition of Spain, i, p. 142.

3 Colmeiro, E. P., ii, p. 13; of. also
Gams (Kirchengeschichte von Spanien,
iii, 1, pp. 468 {.), who cites Colmeiro’s
figures and himself arrives, indepen-
dently, at an estimate of 9,320,6901.
Of these he gives 7,500,000 to Castile,
and 1,100,120 to the realms of the
Crown of Aragon — a totally inadmis-
sible proportion, for the eastern king-
doms, though smaller, were much the
more thickly populated; moreover, he
specifically states that his figures for
Castile are uncertain, so that it is ob-
viously necessary to lower them rather
than to raise the others. If we accept
the estimate of the eastern kingdoms
as approximately correct, the sum total
for all Spain could scarcely exceed

5,000,000. By another method of com-
putation we get a somewhat larger
figure. Alfonso de Quintanilla, conta-
dor mayor to the Catholic Kings, re-
ported to their Majesties in 1482 that
there were 1,500,000 vecinos (resident
property holders) in Castile, excluding
Granada (Censo de Poblacion de Cas-
tilla en ol Siglo XVI, p. 303). Taking
the relative proportion of vecinos to in-
habitants as one to four, this makes
6,000,000 for Castile: adding 1,500,000
or 2,000,000 more for Granada and the
eastern kingdoms, we get a grand total
of 7,500,000 or 8,000,000. Comparisons
with England and France in this period,
however, lead one to prefer the lower

3 I;en.. op. cit., i, p. 143.
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satisfactory place of refuge was unquestionably the domain
of the Sultan of Turkey, who properly estimated their
economic value and scoffed at the praises which the bulk
of Western Christendom lavished on the mistaken policy of
the Catholic Kings. And the horror and loathing of their
native land, which the unfortunate Israelites carried with
them wherever they went, was not the least ominous feature
of the situation. The Jews were perhaps too small a por-
tion of the population to have their enmity count for much ;
but when in years to come the Moors and the Protestants
were added to the victims of Spanish intolerance and ex-
clusiveness, the nation drew down upon itself the bitter
hatred of some of its most powerful neighbors, so that the
fabric of its empire was shaken to the very foundations.!
Racial and religious animosity had certainly made great
strides between 1480 and 1492, but the next decade saw it
increase more rapidly still; and this time, as the Jews were
gone, it was the Moors who bore the brunt of the attack.
The terms of the capitulation of Granada, as already re-
marked, had granted the most generous possible conditions
to the vanquished infidels.? They were to remain undis-
turbed in the enjoyment of their own property and customs,
laws, and religion. All attempts forcibly to convert them
were strictly forbidden, and they were guaranteed the favor
and protection of the Castilian crown. For at least five
years after the fall of Granada, the main provisions of the .
capitulation were loyally observed; indeed, in April, 1497,
when the king of Portugal expelled all the Moors from his
dominions, Ferdinand and Isabella specifically invited the
exiles either to come and settle in Spain, or else to pass
through it on their way to their final place of refuge.® But
' 1 Bernéldes, caps. cx—cxiv; Lea, op. cos of Spain, pp. 20 f.

cit., i, pp. 187-142, 3 Lea, Moriscos, p. 23.
3 Ante, p. 78; md.Le.. The Moris-
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in the immediately succeeding period there came a change.
In 1492 Isabella determined to revive the high episcopal
traditions which Granada had enjoyed in Roman and Visi-
gothic times, to erect it into an archbishoprie, and to confer
it upon her confessor, the saintly Hernando de Talavera.!
Under his gentle influence numerous Moorish converts to
Christianity were made; but the process did not advance
with sufficient rapidity to suit their Catholic Majesties,
who in November, 1499, took the decisive step of associat~
ing with Talavera a man of a very different stamp — the
redoubtable Francisco Ximenes? de Cisneros, archbishop
of Toledo. Inflexible determination and fanatic zeal for
the propagation of the Christian faith were the principal
traits of this extraordinary prelate; from the moment of
his arrival in Granada he dominated everything; the gentle
Talavera was simply elbowed aside. Conversion by com-
pulsion and terrorism supplanted conversion by persuasion
and instruction; baptism en masse — 3000 at a time on one
occasion — by the use of the aspergillum or baptismal
sprinkler, replaced the individual rite.® When rebellions
ensued as a result of these proceedings, Ximenes insisted
that the Moors had thereby forfeited their lives and their
property, and that they ought not to be pardoned unless
they promised either to accept Christianity or else to leave
the realm.* The sovereigns lent a willing ear to these repre-
sentations ; and the Holy Office, which had been extended
to Granada in the same year that Ximenes had been sent
there, urged them still further along the path of persecution.
Ferdinand was unquestionably less amenable to clerical
argument than was Isabella. He recognized the high value

1 Lea,*Moriscos, p. 26. speaking more correct.

11 have retnned the old-fashioned 3 Lea, Moriscos, pp. 29-31.
spelling of this name, which is sanc- ¢ Lea, Moriscos, p. 35.
tioned by usage: ‘‘Jiménes” is striotly
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of the Moorish portions of the population from the economic
point of view, and often strove to check the ardor of his
more fanatic spouse.! But the queen was determined to
rid Castile at all costs of the last remnant of its non-Christian
population, and on the plea that it was impossible to prevent
the avowed and confessed Moors from entering Granada,
where they would infallibly contaminate those whom
Ximenes had baptized, she finally issued, on February 12,
1502, an edict for their expulsion. This provided that all
unconverted adult Moors, except a few slaves with whom it
was impossible to interfere, should leave the realms of Leon
and Castile before the end of the following April. As a
matter of fact, however, the edict really amounted to a sen-
tence of conversion or death, for the conditions under which
it provided that the expatriation should be carried out were
quite impossible of fulfilment. The prescribed places of
embarkation were too remote to be reached within the al-
lotted time, and resort to the adjacent Iberian and North
African realms was prohibited. The edict was virtually an
order for the forcible conversion of all the non-Christian
inhabitants of Leon and Castile and the consequent bring-
ing of them within the jurisdiction of the Holy Office.?

The edict against the Moors in 1502, in contrast to that
against the Jews of ten years before, did not for the present
apply to the realms of the Crown of Aragon. Not until the
reign of the Emperor Charles V was it extended to the
eastern kingdoms. Isabella, as we have seen, was primarily
responsible for it; indeed, after her death in 1504 her hus-
band did what he could to mitigate the severity of its en-
forcement. Ferdinand’s whole career shows him to have
been much less intolerant than the queen; in this respect at

1 Lea, Mortscos, p. 47. Jayme Bleda, Corénica de los Moros de

2 Lea, Moriscos, pp. 43 {.; for the Espafia, passim.
other side of the question see Fray
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least his point of view was far more modern. But even his
efforts to stem the tide of persecution were in the end totally -
fruitless; the movement begun by Isabella and her clerical
allies and advisers was to continue practically unchecked
until its force was broken by the scepticism of the eighteenth
century. How far the effects of this baleful arousing of the
demon of persecution and exclusiveness was responsible for
the fall of Spain and her empire, it is profitable to inquire,
provided we do not expect a definite answer. Certainly it
was a cause, and, in all probability, a principal one; but to
hold it solely or even almost solely responsible for the dis-
asters that followed, is too much. The Spanish Empire of
the sixteenth century was such a vast, unwieldy, and hetero-
geneous organization that it is idle to attempt to account for
its rise or fall on the theory of any single explanation. Many
exceedingly complex, and in large measure accidental, ele-
ments combined to effect its sudden growth and decay;
and if the present work lays less than the usual emphasis on
the errors of Spain’s racial and religious policy, it is because
the writer feels that they were but one of a number of reasons
that went to produce the final result.

BIBLIOGRAPHICAL NOTE
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and of Chapter IV in Volume I, and add:
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CHAPTER XV
INTERNAL REORGANIZATION

Having disposed of the two distinctively Spanish prob-
lems with which Ferdinand and Isabella were confronted,
we can take up the story of their principal administrative re-
forms, which were inspired, one and all, by the idea of giving
the nation peace, order, and union under the absolute
authority of the crown. Before any positive work towards
the upbuilding of a strong central government could be
attempted, it was essential to clear the way for it by two
negative measures of fundamental importance. An end
must be put to the long course of unpunished crime and
contempt for authority which made the name of Castile
synonymous with anarchy even in that lawless age; and
the rebel aristocracy, the principal foe to the omnipotence
of the king, must be permanently reduced to subjection.

The quotation from Andrés Bernéldez, with which this
volume opens, may well be supplemented by a description
from the pen of another contemporary, in order to portray
the full horrors of the period in which Ferdinand and
Isabella began to reign. ““So corrupt and abominable were
the customs of these realms, that every one was left free
to follow his own devices without fear of reprehension or
punishment ; and so loosely were the conventions of civil-
ized society observed, that men practically relapsed into
savagery, in such fashion that the wise and prudent deemed
it next to impossible to bring order out of such chaos, or
regulation out of such confusion; for no justice was left in

98
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the land. The common people were exterminated, the
crown property alienated, the royal revenues reduced to
such slight value that it causes me shame to speak of it;
whence it resulted that men were robbed not only in the
open fields but in the cities and towns, that the regular
clergy could not live in safety, and that the seculars were
treated with no respect, that sanctuaries were violated,
women raped, and all men had full liberty to sin as they
pleased.” !

In times of such agony the Hermandad had proved itself
the sole effective remedy in the past, and in the reign of
Henry the Impotent ‘“the extension of the malady made
the cure more urgent still.””? A new Hermandad, far larger
and more powerful than any that Castile had seen before,
had therefore been inaugurated in 1465 and definitely con-
stituted two years later. A set of laws and ordinances, which
were drawn up for it at a general assembly of its represent-
atives at Castronufio near Valladolid, exhibit the institu-
tion at the height of its independent development, and show
that the municipalities, disrupted and shaken though they
were by the anarchy of the times, were still centres of
patriotism and national pride These ordinances declare
that a Hermandad, comprising the important towns of
Leon, Castile, Asturias, and Galicia, is established for the
execution of justice, and for the preservation of the well-
being of the realm and its royal crown. They prescribe
the forms of its organization, from the alcaldes in the towns,
on whom fell the important duty of intervening to prevent
crime and disturbance, through the eight deputies who

1 Diego de Valera, Forma en gue reynado de Enrique IV (Madrid, 1805),
estos reynos gqueddron, al tiempo que los  p. 1, note.
serenisimos principes comensdron 4 rey- 2 Palencia, Crénica, i, p. 522.
nar — quoted in L. Saes, Demostra- . 3Printed in Puyol y Alonso, Las Her-
- ci6n del Valor de las Monedas durante el  mandades de Castilla y Leén, pp. 107-125.
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headed each provincial subdivision of the institution, to
the supreme general assembly or Junta General. They lay
down the methods of recruiting and utilizing the military
forces of the institution, the contribution due from each
municipality for their support, the means of forcibly col-
lecting it in case of a refusal, and also the difficult question
of conflicts of jurisdiction with the ordinary authorities.
They are, in fact, the constitution of a powerful ‘“adminis-
trative, judicial, legislative, and military machine,” “a
state within a state, or, more exactly, the sole state then
existent in Castile.””! The excessive praises of contem-
porary chroniclers must not lead us into thinking that it
succeeded in fully accomplishing its purposes, or ‘“that there
was once more safety on the roads in such manner that men
could travel anywhere without fear.”* The evils of the
day were far too deep seated for that; but had it not been
for this Hermandad of 1465-67 they would probably have
been much worse. In any case, the institution had demon-
strated its value so signally and so recently, that, in casting
about for some means of restoring order at their accession,
it was impossible that Ferdinand and Isabella should
ignore it.

One of the most striking features of the administration
of the Catholic Kings, and also one of the most convincing
proofs of their statesmanship, was their careful avoidance
of gratuitous innovations. If their purpose could be as
well served by the remodelling of an ancient institution as
by the creation of a new one, they unhesitatingly chose the
former alternative, knowing full well that the permanence
of their work would thus be more completely assured.
The application of this principle to the Hermandad was

1 Puyol y Alonso, Hermandades, pp. 1 Enrfques del Castillo, Crénica, cap.
f. Ixxxvii (B. A. E., Ixx, p. 155).
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obvious and important. The institution was highly es-
teemed and enjoyed noble traditions. It had stood in the
past for objects of which no true patriot could fail to ap-
prove. With crown support it would be able to accomplish
its purpose far more effectively than ever before, while the
monarchy itself would gain prestige from association with it.
Finally, under royal control, it could never lend itself to
enterprises hostile to the throne. Accordingly, after con-
sultation with the principal personages in the most important
cities of the realm, the sovereigns promulgated a plan for the
reorganization of the ancient Hermandad under the auspices
of the central government, at the Cortes of Madrigal, April
27, 1476.) On the basis of this proclamation, a new con-
stitution was drawn up by the representatives of the differ-
ent municipalities in solemn conclave at Duefias on July 25,
and sanctioned by the sovereigns on August 13 following.?
Three features of this new constitution deserve special
emphasis.? First, in order to preserve the authority of the
crown over the institution as a whole, a representative of
the monarchy, the bishop of Cartagena, was installed as
president of the Junta or council of the Hermandad, which
was composed as formerly of provincial delegates. Before
this body all questions of importance were ultimately cer-
tain to come, and the sovereigns were thus enabled to keep
in touch with every phase of the institution’s activities.
Second, in addition to preventing crime and maintaining

1 Cortes, iv, pp. 3-11.

1 Galindes Carbajal, in D. I. E.,
xviii, p. 269, notes 2 and 5.

$ For further details see Novisima
Recopilacién, lib. xii, tit. xxxv, contain-
ing a Cuaderno de Leyes de la Hermandad
published by Ferdinand and Isabella
at Cordova in 1496, and considerably
fuller than the original one, which is
exoeedingly rare; Pulgar, Crénica, pt.

ii, cap. li (B. A. E., Ixx, pp. 300-303) ;
Palencia, Crénica, iv, pp. 73-76; Lu-
cius Marineus Siculus, in Schott, i, pp.
477-481. Of the more recent works,
besides Puyol y Alonso, Clemencin, El6-
gio, pp. 134-141; A. Du Boys, Histoire
du droit criminel de ' Espagne, pp. 444~
457 ; and Mariéjol, pp. 16-23, are the
most valuable.
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order, the new Hermandad was given complete jurisdiction
over certain classes of crimes, and full power to punish them.
Among these may be mentioned robbery and arson in the
open country, rape, and all acts of rebellion against the
central government; and elaborate rules prevented the
ordinary judicial authorities from interfering in such cases.
Finally, the amounts of the contributions due from each
town for the support of the new institution, the sources and
means of collecting them, and the penalties for default were
regulated more carefully than ever before, as were also the
size and distribution of its military contingents throughout
the realm. No rank or class of men, whether nobles or
clergy, was exempt from the tribute which the maintenance
of the Hermandad required ; “for as it was equally useful
to all, so it was but fair that all men should pay their share.” !
The new institution may thus be regarded as “the first at-
tempt to establish a system of taxation to which every one
should contribute irrespective of his estate and condition,
and therefore as the initial step towards the abolition of the
ancient privileges’’? and the levelling of all distinctions
under the throne.

The efficiency of this reorganized or Holy (Santa) Her-
mandad is the best possible justification of the wisdom of the
sovereigns’ treatment of it. The pursuit of criminals was
carried relentlessly forward, lap on lap, by the squadrons
of archers which were maintained in each locality. When
the limits of the territory of one company were reached, it
relinquished the chase to a fresh one, which was always
on hand to take it up. Death or mutilation were the regu-
lar punishments. Whenever possible the malefactor was
brought back to the place where he had committed his
crime to undergo them; and the death penalty was in-

1 Pulgar, Crénica, in B. A. E., Ixx, p. 303. 3 Puyol, Hermandades, pp. 98 1.
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variably inflicted by a discharge of arrows at the body of
the victim, bound upright to a wooden post, which, as the
ancient law significantly specified, “should never be per-
mitted to have the form of a cross.”! Yet despite the
ruthlessness of its procedure, the new institution met with
little resistance or complaint. The nobles alone, who
realized that it was certain ultimately to curtail their ex-
cessive powers, were bitterly hostile, but since they were
themselves the fundamental cause of the prevailing anarchy,
we may well believe that Ferdinand and Isabella paid no
attention to their remonstrances. The Hermandad was
vigorously supported by the crown in all its proceedings,
and rendered splendid service in return. We have seen
that, in addition to their regular duties, some of its con-
tingents formed a useful nucleus for the Christian army in
the Granadan war. A similar institution was established
in Aragon in 1488 and endured until 1510.> Long before
the latter date, however, the more important Castilian
Hermandad had accomplished the work which it had been
reorganized to do. Crime and rebellion had been suppressed,
pe